

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

June 1979

Instructor Modeled Postural Positions and Their Influence on Instructional Test Scores of Tenthgrade Students

Robert L. Bower East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd



Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Bower, Robert L., "Instructor Modeled Postural Positions and Their Influence on Instructional Test Scores of Tenth-grade Students" (1979). Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 2839. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/2839

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

INFORMATION TO USERS

This was produced from a copy of a document sent to us for microfilming. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or notations which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting through an image and duplicating adjacent pages to assure you of complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a round black mark it is an indication that the film inspector noticed either blurred copy because of movement during exposure, or duplicate copy. Unless we meant to delete copyrighted materials that should not have been filmed, you will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., is part of the material being photographed the photographer has followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin filming at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. If necessary, sectioning is continued again—beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. For any illustrations that cannot be reproduced satisfactorily by xerography, photographic prints can be purchased at additional cost and tipped into your xerographic copy. Requests can be made to our Dissertations Customer Services Department.
- 5. Some pages in any document may have indistinct print. In all cases we have filmed the best available copy.

University
Microfilms
International

7919994

BOWER, ROBERT LEE
INSTRUCTOR MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS AND THEIR
INFLUENCE ON INSTRUCTIONAL TEST SCORES OF
TENTH-GRADE STUDENTS.

EAST TENNESSEE STATE UNIVERSITY, ED.D., 1979

University
Microfilms
International 300 N. ZEEB FIOAD, ANN ARBOR, MI 48106

INSTRUCTOR MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS AND THEIR INFLUENCE ON INSTRUCTIONAL TEST SCORES OF TENTH-GRADE STUDENTS

A Dissertation

Presented to

the Faculty of the College of Education ·

East Tennessee State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

by

Robert L. Bower

June 1979

APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Advanced Graduate Committee of

ROBERT L. BOWER

met on	the					
	<u> </u>	23rd	day of	May	, 19 <u>79</u> .	
	The cor	nmittee read a	ind examined his	dissertatio	n, supervised h	ıis
defense	of 1t :	in an oral exa	mination, and o	lecided to re	commend that hi	LS
study b	e submit	ted to the Gr	aduate Council	and the Dean	of the School	of
Graduat	e Studie	es in partial	fulfillment of	the requirem	ents for the	
iegree	Doctor o	of Education.	A A			
			-leh	sles of	Besido	<u></u>
			Chairman	, Advanced G	raduate Committ	ee
			Jea	CCobu		
			Do	LETA Son	agk	
			Pal	iero Yx	Thepart	7
			<u>a.</u>	Cuths	Dudul	7
			Eliza	elette &	? mema	lan

Dean, School of Graduate Studies

Robert L. Bower, B.S., Milligan College, May 1971.
M.A., East Tennessee State University, June 1976.
Ed.D., East Tennessee State University, June 1979.

INSTRUCTOR MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS AND THEIR INFLUENCE ON INSTRUCTIONAL TEST SCORES OF TENTH-GRADE STUDENTS

<u>Purpose</u>. The problem was to determine if instructor modeled postural positions influence instructional test scores of selected tenth-grade students.

Method. Literature was reviewed in order to identify the role of postural behavior as an element of nonverbal communication. Postural communication was reviewed in relation to verbal behavior, facial behavior, deceptive behavior, orientation, relaxation, and educational environments.

An intact group consisting of tenth-grade students comprising the entire sophomore class was selected from one Upper East Tennessee school. Subjects were randomly assigned to one of two subgroups. All subjects were exposed to five instructional videotaped lessons, each of which depicted an instructor modeling one of the following postures: extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed.

Economics was chosen as the instructional content for the series of five lessons. Videotape was selected as the medium for instructional presentation in order to achieve consistency of postural and presentational aspects. The experimenter designed and produced the lesson series for videotape transmission. Each lesson was presented by an instructor modeling one of five postural positions: extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed. All videotaped postures incorporated into the lessons were assessed for reliability of conformance to the established postural criteria. Intratest and intertest similarity were determined in a pilot test situation.

A volunteer monitor administered the videotaped instruction to the intact group of tenth-graders. Duration of each lesson was 7 minutes. The subjects participated in one lesson each week on five successive Tuesdays. Immediately following each lesson, each subject completed a 20-item true-false test on the lesson content.

Differences between mean test scores for the total intact group; males; and females for the five experimental conditions were tested for statistical significance by the t test. The .05 level of significance was adopted in all cases.

Results. Data analysis indicated that instruction presented in an extremely tense posture yielded a mean test score for the total group which was significantly lower than those achieved during the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed and slightly tense presentations. The slightly relaxed postural treatment phase resulted in a significantly lower mean test score when contrasted with mean scores of the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed and slightly tense postures. Test scores obtained by females during the extremely tense presentation were significantly depressed when compared to the scores of the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense phases. The means for males instructed during the extremely tense and slightly relaxed postural conditions were significantly inferior to those obtained under the conditions of extreme postural relaxation and slight postural tenseness. Throughout all postural treatments, mean test scores of males were higher than those of females, and significantly so in the experimental conditions of extremely relaxed, slightly tense, extremely tense, and slightly relaxed postures.

Summary. The results of the study did not provide absolute guidelines for postures for which instruction should be provided. However, results did reveal that instruction presented in the extremely tense posture was detrimental to learner achievement. Data compiled for the total intact group did indicate that moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed postural presentations were positively related to learner achievement. Male and female reaction to posture was different. The lowest achievement by females occurred when instruction was presented in the extremely tense posture. Males performed significantly lower during both the extremely tense and the slightly relaxed phases.

Conclusions. The results of the experiment provided evidence that postures which are maintained by an instructor while presenting lesson content influence learner performance in a classroom environment. Lesson content which is presented in a manner which can be characterized as extremely tense is detrimental to learner achievement. A more relaxing classroom environment may be beneficial to learning. The suggestion that the negative effects of an extremely tense postural presentation may generalize to additional learning environments is forwarded. Learner bias, resultant of instruction being presented in an extremely tense manner, may negatively influence future learner achievement under conditions which are not tense. The duration of learner bias may be differential in sexes, being more enduring with males than with females. The possibility that the sex of the instructor may have led to a differential response of males and females is proposed. Of special significance to this study, the ordering of postural presentations, could possibly affect performance of subsequent instructional presentations in differing postural modes.

.

Dissertation prepared under the guidance of Dr. Charles Beseda, Dr. Ted Cobun, Dr. Robert Shepard, Dr. A. Keith Turkett, and Dr. Robert Spangler.

Institutional Review Board

This is to certify that the following study has been filed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of East Tennessee State University.

Title of Grant or Project <u>INSTRUCTOR MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS AND</u>
THEIR INFLUENCE ON INSTRUCTIONAL TEST SCORES OF TENTH-GRADE STUDENTS
Principal Investigator Robert L. Bower
Department Supervision and Administration
Date Submitted January 10, 1979
Principal Investigator Roll 1 Bowl
Institutional Review Board Approval, Chairman

DEDICATION

This study is dedicated to the aspiration to stimulate the application of a science of human behavior to design and production of instructional media.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Initially, I wish to express my gratitude to Dr. Ted C. Cobun. As a committee member and professor, Dr. Cobun's promotion of academic excellence, exploration of the controversial, and sustained enthusiasm for teaching and learning have significantly contributed to my personal, professional, and academic maturation. I have profited greatly from my association with him, and I am exceedingly grateful for his counsel, encouragement, unwavering support—and most importantly, his friendship.

My sincere appreciation is extended to Dr. Charles G. Beseda,
Dr. Robert S. Spangler, Dr. Robert G. Shepard, and Dr. A. Keith Turkett
for serving as graduate committee members and for assisting in the
formulation and completion of this study.

In addition, I am indebted to my parents, whose provision for a positive and loving home environment ultimately reinforced the pursuance of this goal.

Finally, I wish to thank my wife, Mary, for without whose continual sacrifice, sustenance, and encouragement, the completion of this study would have been illusive.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
APPROVAL	ii
ABSTRACT	
INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW	v
DEDICATION	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	xii
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	
The Problem	
Hypotheses	
Significance of the Study	4
Assumptions	.
Delimitations of the Study	. 5
Definitions of Terms	.
Arm-Position Asymmetry	.
Arms-Akimbo	.
Decoding	,
Encoding	
Extremely Relaxed Posture	,
Extremely Tense Posture	.
Forward Loan	

Chapter		Page
	Hand Relaxation	9
	Kinesics	10
	Leg-Position Asymmetry	10
	Moderately Relaxed Posture	11
	Neck Relaxation	11
	Nonverbal Behavior	12
	Nonverbal Communication	12
	Postural Relaxation	12
	Posture	12
	Reclining Angle	13
	Sign	13
	Slightly Relaxed Posture	13
	Slightly Tense Posture	14
	Subgroup	14
	Procedures	14
	Organization of the Study	15
2.	EVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	16
	Introduction	16
	Methodological Approaches	17
	Functions of Nonverbal Behavior	18
	Postural Psychoanalysis	19
	Postural and Verbal Behavior	20
	Postural and Facial Behavior	22
	Postural Cues and Deception	23
	Fixed Postural Analysis	24
	Postural Orientation	25

Chapter	P	age
	Postural Relaxation	26
	Posture and Sex Differences	31
	Nonverbal Behavior Research in Education	32
	Summary	33
3.	METHOD	35
	Design	35
•	Treatment of Data	36
	Subjects	36
	Instrumentation	37
	Production of Videotaped Instruction for Presentation	38
	Reliability Assessment of Videotaped Postures	41
	Pilot Test for Intratest and Intertest Similarity	42
	Procedures	43
4.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	45
	Results	45
	Discussion	56
5.	SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	60
	Summary	60
	Results	62
	Conclusions	64
	Recommendations	64
REFEREN	CES CITED	66
APPENDI	XES	74
Α.	INFORMED CONSENT FORM	75
В.	INSTRUCTIONAL TELEVISION SCRIPTS	77

Chapter	Pag
	Lesson 1
	Lesson 2
	Lesson 3
	Lesson 4
	Lesson 5
C.	TEST ITEMS
	Lesson 1
	Lesson 2
	Lesson 3
	Lesson 4
	Lesson 5
D.,	CONTENT VALIDITY OF TEST ITEMS
	Lesson 1
	Lesson 2
	Lesson 3
	Lesson 4
	Lesson 5
E.	EVALUATOR CRITZRIA AND CHECKLIST FOR FIVE DEGREES OF POSTURAL RELAXATION
F.	RELIABILITY OF VIDEOTAPED POSTURES 14
G.	RAW SCORES OF PILOT GROUP
н.	ANALYSIS OF INTRATEST AND INTERTEST SIMILARITY 14
ı.	MONITOR'S INSTRUCTIONS TO STUDENTS
J.	TABLE OF RAW SCORES FOR FIVE INSTRUCTOR MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS
к.	VARIANCE PROFILE SCORES FOR FIVE INSTURCTOR
	MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS
VITA .	

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Psychoanalytic Interpretations of Postures	21
2.	Relaxation Cues	27
3.	Comparison of Mean Scores for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Males, Females, and Total Group	46
4.	Total Group Test Variances, Means, and <u>t</u> Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions	47
5.	Summary Matrix of \underline{t} Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Total Group	48
6.	Female Test Variances, Means, and t Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions	51
7.	Summary Matrix of t Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Females	52
8.	Male Test Variances, Means, and \underline{t} Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions	53
9.	Summary Matrix of t Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Males	54
10.	Test Variances, Means, and t Values for Males and Females for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions	55
11.	Reliability of Videotaped Postures	
	Raw Scores of Pilot Group on Five Tests of Instructional Content	_,,•
13.	Chi Square Analysis of Pilot Group Data of Intratest and Intertest Similarity	150
14.	Raw Scores of Subjects for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions	154
15.	Variance Profile Scores for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Males, Females and Total Group	157

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

Perception of the image of a communicator by receivers may have a significant effect on how they perceive his messages. First impressions have been said to be lasting impressions, and are modifiable only with difficulty. What a communicator does is important. How he does it is important. "A naughty person, a wicked man, walketh with a froward mouth: he winketh with his eyes, he speaketh with his feet, he teacheth with his fingers" (Proverbs 6:12, 13).

Primitive man employed nonverbal behavior as a means of communication. Biblical sources refer to nonverbal behavior as a reflection of personality. Seventeenth and eighteenth century scientists correlated body positions and movements with emotional states. Throughout history, men of high stature have attempted to adopt various body postures and gestures in order to acquire charisma. Nonverbal behavior has been and remains a dominant influence in the advertising world. The legal profession has realized the persuasive impact of nonverbal behavior, as manifest in the Chicago Seven trial when defense lawyer William Kunstler made a formal objection concerning Judge Hoffman's postural variations during prosecution and defense summations (Davis, 1973). Recently, educators have become aware of nonverbal behavior in the classroom.

Early investigations of John Laxater, Sir Charles Bell, and Cesare Lombroso (Spiegel and Machotka, 1974) attempted to correlate positions, movements, and expressions with particular emotional states. However,

these early works were characterized by subjectivity. Conclusions were drawn from personal experiences and were quite arbitrary. A resurgence in the application of a scientific analysis of body movement as a communicative process has been attributed to Ray L. Birdwhistell, who in 1952 published Introduction to Kinesics: An Annotation System for Analysis of Body Motion and Gestures. This systematic approach to non-verbal behavior paralleled that of linguistics.

Birdwhistell's original research motivated others to study nonverbal behavior as an element of the communication system. As investigation proceeded, communication of the emotional state as expressed in nonverbal behavior became a major concern. Analysis of nonverbal behavior structure and its significance as a communication component has been dominant in psychology. Only recently have educators realized the consequences of the nonverbal communication channel in the classroom.

Bruce Ledford included kinesics in the educational superstructure of learner analysis. Concerning this superstructure he stated that, "the ability to communicate by means of nonlinguistic functions and motions of the body is an integral component" (Ledford, 1974, p. 130).

The importance of nonverbal behavior as manifest in the classroom has been expressed by others. Enthusiasm in the classroom has been attributed to nonverbal behaviors which are emitted by teachers (Kachur and others, 1977). Charles Achilles and Russell French (1974) asserted that: "Youngsters learn to 'like' school, teachers, education, and themselves based upon the interpretations of nonverbal cues . . ." (p. 56).

Of particular emphasis to this study was the focus of an identifiable element of nonverbal behavior. Mark Knapp (1972) includes gestures, movements of the body, limbs, hands, head, feet, and legs, facial expressions, eye behavior, and posture as typical kinesic components. Specifically, the relaxation dimension of body posture was examined. The effects of a communicator's posture on learner recall of lesson events was analyzed.

Data acquired from the study may be used in an attempt to synthesize answers to questions such as: Is there an optimum body relaxation posture that can be employed by a communicator when addressing subjects? Does the degree of postural relaxation affect male and female subjects differently? Are postural relaxation dimensions relevant variables in educational practice? These are kinesic concepts which have been investigated by other researchers. Contributions from this study may be applicable to current classroom teaching methodology.

The Problem

The problem was to determine if instructor modeled postural positions influence instructional test scores of selected tenth-grade students.

Hypotheses

Given the statement of the problem the following hypotheses were formulated:

H₀₁: There will be no significant difference in the mean scores on tests of subject content after each treatment of extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed sitting postures within the intact group.

H₀₂: There will be no significant difference in the mean scores on tests of subject content between male and female subjects who are

instructed by a communicator exhibiting an extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed sitting posture.

Significance of the Study

An extensive review of the literature revealed that no study has yet investigated five degrees of postural relaxation which may be exhibited by an instructor and the effect on learner recall in a classroom situation. Nonverbal behavioral studies, from both clinical and classroom settings, have isolated elements within the nonverbal behavioral spectrum to manageable components. This study attempted to determine the effects of instructor modeled extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed postures on student recall of presented instruction.

Communication in the classroom emanates from both verbal and non-verbal channels. Recently, there has been concern for teacher nonverbal behavior as it communicates to students. The magnitude of nonverbal behavior as a communicative factor can best be appreciated by the conclusions of Albert Mehrabian (1968c), who suggested that as little as 7 percent of communication can be attributed to the verbal element. The remainder of the message is transmitted by nonverbal attributes.

Psychologists have studied nonverbal behavior and its effects on addressees for a number of years. Nonverbal behavioral characteristics have been correlated with specific emotional states. Stanley Strong, Ronald Taylor, Joseph Bratton, and Rodney Lopez (1971) have determined that a communicator's nonverbal behavior does influence an addressee's description of that communicator. Of further importance, nonverbal

behaviors can be learned and managed. Erving Goffman (1959) contends that these behaviors can be managed to achieve desired effects.

Educators have extrapolated the findings of psychological experiments dealing with nonverbal behavior and are beginning to employ these principles to classroom management. Of recent, workshops have been established to increase the efficiency of teacher nonverbal behavior utilization in the classroom (Ligons, 1974; Borgers and Ward, 1975). Extensive compilations of nonverbal behavior research have aided the further investigation of this phenomenon (Davis, 1972). However, classroom teachers are still not cognizant of the communicative process of nonverbal behavior. Robert Koch further states that "Teachers do unconsciously read a lot of their students' nonverbal messages, and consciously read some, but their use of conscious sending is practically nil" (1972, p. 231).

In a classic statement concerning the scientific method of investigation, Albert Einstein (1933) suggested that in order to learn what physicists do, one must observe them at work rather than ask them what they do. Characteristically, investigations by psychologists, sociologists, and educators into the effects of nonverbal behavior have been concerned with reported emotional perceptions of these behaviors. B. F. Skinner (1953) warns that internal events are difficult to observe, and conclusions derived from such methods may be without justification. He further suggests that a considerable advantage may be gained by confining investigations to observable events. This study restricts itself to conclusions drawn from observable behavior.

The issue of posture in determining the likelihood of achievement of objectives is a critical matter deserving, by supervisors, informed

attention. Educators contend that nonverbal behavior is a component of the communicative process in the classroom. However, only through scientific investigation can we actually determine the effects of nonverbal behavior on learning. Ultimately, compilation of such findings may describe optimum topographies of nonverbal behavior. The assertation that nonverbal behaviors are learned and can be managed is of further significance to supervisors whose mission is to improve classroom instruction. The relevance of nonverbal behaviors to supervisory practice is evident by the definition of supervision as, "the process of helping teachers to improve both instruction and curriculum" (Oliva, 1976).

Assumptions

Assumptions for the study were:

- 1. Variances between the male and female experimental populations were homogeneous.
- 2. The general demeanor of the intact group remained constant throughout the experiment.

Delimitations of the Study

The study was limited by the fact that:

- 1. The effects of five degrees of postural relaxation (extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed) were assessed on the means of post-test scores of an intact group.
- 2. An intact group of tenth-grade male and female students was selected from one school in Upper East Tennessee.

- 3. Videotaped instruction was utilized to achieve consistency of poatural and presentational aspects.
- 4. Instructional content which had not been formally taught to the subjects was selected by the experimenter.
- 5. A single 7-minute exposure of each postural position was administered to all experimental subjects.

Definitions of Terms

Arm-Position Asymmetry

Arm-position asymmetry is one criterion of the postural relaxation dimension. The criteria for each relaxation dimension in the sitting position are:

Extremely Tense - extreme symmetrical position of the arms in the folded position.

Slightly Tense - symmetrical position of the arms while resting in the lap.

Slightly Relaxed - slight asymmetry in the arm position: for example, both hands resting on the lap but one hand from 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other.

Moderately Relaxed - moderate asymmetry in the arm position, where one hand holds the elbow whereas the other hand is free.

Extremely Relaxed - extreme asymmetry in the position of the arms, where one arm is placed in the lap while the other arm is hooked over the back of the chair (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Arms-Akimbo

Arms-akimbo position constitutes placement of hands (palms inward) on the hips.

Decoding

Subjects are presented nonverbal behavioral signals and are instructed to infer feelings and attitudes from those stimuli (Mehrabian, 1972).

Encoding

During encoding experiments subjects are placed in experimental situations which elicit different kinds of attitude related nonverbal behavior. Role playing is typically employed as an encoding method (Mehrabian, 1972).

Extremely Relaxed Posture

An extremely relaxed posture is a degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. The criteria for an extremely relaxed sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - extreme asymmetry in the position of the arms where one arm is placed in the lap while the other arm is hooked over the back of the chair.

Hand Relaxation - fingers are extended, but not stiffly.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are crossed in an extremely asymmetrical position with one foot, lifted off the floor and the other foot's edge resting on the floor.

Neck Relaxation - the head is hanging so that the line of vision forms more than 20 degrees below the horizontal.

Reclining Angle - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 30 degrees back of the vertical plane.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 30 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Extremely Tense Posture

An extremely tense posture is one degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. The criteria for an extremely tense sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - extreme symmetrical position of arms in a folded position.

Forward Lean - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 20 degrees forward of the vertical plane.

Hand Relaxation - the hands are tightly clenched.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - symmetrical position of the legs with both feet flat on the floor and the insteps touching.

Neck Relaxation - the head is not supported and the line of vision is pointing 20 degrees above the horizontal.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is O degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Forward Lean

Forward lean is the number of degrees that a plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is in front of the vertical plane (Mehrabian, 1969a).

Hand Relaxation

Hand relaxation is an element of the postural relaxation dimension.

The criteria for degrees of postural relaxation are:

Extremely Tense - the hands are very tightly clenched.

Slightly Tense - the hands are loosely clasped on the lap.

Relaxed (slightly, moderately, and extreme degree) - fingers are extended but not stiffly (Mehrabian, 1969a).

Kinesics

Kinesics deals with the science of bodily communication, and involves the systematic analysis of gestures, movements, and positions of the body (Birdwhistell, 1952).

Leg-Position Asymmetry

Leg-position asymmetry is one criterion of the postural relaxation dimension. The criteria for leg-position asymmetry on each relaxation degree in the sitting position are:

Extremely Tense - legs are in an extremely symmetrical position with both feet flat on the floor and the insteps touching.

Slightly Tense - legs are symmetrically positioned with both feet flat on the floor and insteps not touching.

Slightly Relaxed - legs are in a slightly asymmetrical position with both geet resting flat on the floor and one foot 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other.

Moderately Relaxed Posture - legs are in a moderately asymmetrical position with one leg extended forward and the other bent at the knee.

Extremely Relaxed Posture - legs are crossed in an extremely asymmetrical position with one foot lifted off the floor and the other foot's edge resting on the floor (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Moderately Relaxed Posture

The moderately relaxed posture is one degree of the relaxation dimension of postural behavior. The criteria for a moderately relaxed sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - moderate asymmetry in the position of the arms is exhibited with one hand positioned on the knee 8 to 10 inches more forward than the other, and the elbow of the rear arm resting on the chair's arm.

Hand Relaxation - fingers are extended but not stiffly.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are in a moderately asymmetrical position with one leg extended forward and the other bent at the knee.

Neck Relaxation - the head is hanging so that the line of vision forms between 10 to 20 degrees below the horizontal.

Reclining Angle - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 15 degrees back of the vertical plane.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 20 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Neck Relaxation

Neck relaxation as a criterion of the postural relaxation dimension refers to the number of degrees in the line of vision above or below the horizontal. The criteria for neck relaxation of the various relaxation degrees in the sitting position are:

Extremely Tense Posture - the head is raised and the line of vision is pointing 20 degrees above the horizontal.

Slightly Tense Posture - the head is raised and the line of vision

is pointing to within 10 degrees above the horizontal.

Slightly Relaxed Posture - the head is positioned so that the line of vision forms within 10 degrees below the horizontal.

Moderately Relaxed Posture - the head is hanging so that the line of vision forms between 10 to 20 degrees below the horizontal.

Extremely Relaxed Posture - the head is hanging so that the line of vision forms more than 20 degrees below the horizontal (Mehrabian, 1969a).

Nonverbal Behavior

Nonverbal behavior includes both signs and communication. Signs may or may not result in communication. The dependence is on the intent of the sign transmitter and the meaning for the sign held by the receiver (Wiener, Devoe, Rubinow, and Geller, 1972).

Nonverbal Communication

Nonverbal communication implies a socially shared signal system of encoder and decoder (Wiener, Devoe, Rubinow, and Geller, 1972).

Postural Relaxation

Postural relaxation is a dimension of behavior with cues that may denote liking and status. The cues are: arm-position asymmetry, hand relaxation, leg-position asymmetry, neck relaxation, reclining angle, and sideways lean (Mehrabian, 1969a).

Posture

Posture is regarded as a frozen phase of total movement which may display expression (James, 1932).

Reclining Angle

Reclining angle is the number of degrees that a plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is behind the vertical plane (Mehrabian, 1969a).

Sign

A sign is a motion or gesture used to mean, represent, or point out something.

Slightly Relaxed Posture

A slightly relaxed posture refers to a degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. A slightly relaxed posture is manifest by the following criteria:

Arm-position Asymmetry - slight asymmetry in the position of the arms where both hands are resting on the lap of the communicator, with one hand from 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other.

Forward Lean - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 10 degrees forward from the vertical plane.

Hand Relaxation - fingers are extended but not stiffly.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are in a slightly asymmetrical position with both feet resting flat on the floor and one foot 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other.

Neck Relaxation - the head is positioned so that the line of vision forms to within 10 degrees below the horizontal.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 10 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Slightly Tense Posture

A slightly tense posture is a degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. The criteria for a slightly tense sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - symmetrical position of the arms while resting in the lap.

Forward Lean - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is within 10 degrees forward of the vertical plane.

Hand Relaxation - the hands are slightly tense or loosely clasped.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are symmetrically positioned with both feet flat on the floor and insteps not touching.

Neck Relaxation - the head is not supported and the line of vision is pointing within 10 degrees above the horizontal.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 0 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Subgroup

A subgroup consists of half of a randomly selected number of subjects from the intact group.

Procedures

Procedures utilized during the conduct of the study were:

- 1. An intact group of tenth-grade students was selected by the experimenter to participate in the experimentation.
- 2. Lesson content for instructional presentation was selected by the experimenter.
 - 3. Five videotaped instructional presentations were designed and

produced by the experimenter.

- 4. Five videotaped postures incorporated into the instructional lessons were assessed for reliability of conformance to the established postural criteria.
- 5. A pilot study was conducted to determine intratest and intertest similarity.
- 6. The videotaped instruction was administered to the intact group of tenth-graders by a volunteer monitor under the supervision of the experimenter.
- 7. Experimental data were analyzed and interpreted by the experimenter.

Organization of the Study

The study was organized into five chapters. Chapter 1 contains an introduction to the study, statement of the problem, research hypotheses, significance of the study, assumptions of the study, and delimitations of the study. Definitions of terms, procedures, and organization of the study are also included.

A review of the related literature is presented in Chapter 2.

Procedures by which the study was conducted are contained in Chapter 3.

An analysis of the findings of the study is included in Chapter 4.

Chapter 5 includes the summary, conclusions, and recommendations of the study.

Chapter 2

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

Introduction

Nonverbal behavior and its relationship to the communicative process has captivated the interest of scientists, artists, theologans, and philosophers for centuries. A resurgence of exploration into human nonverbal behavior has manifest itself in recent years. A disproportionate amount of research has been conducted by psychologists in a clinical environment during the twentieth century. Only recently have those concerned with education, as it occurs in the classroom setting, investigated the environmental effects of nonverbal behavior.

Although researchers agree that some nonverbal behaviors may be potentially communicative, there exists a great disparity in methods of investigation and the subsequent interpretations derived from data as they relate to client communicative behavior (Weitz, 1974). However, there is general agreement in the composition of nonverbal substructures. Knapp (1972) organized the nonverbal domain into the following categories: body motion or kinesic behavior, physical characteristics, touching behavior, paralanguage, proxemics, artifacts, and environmental factors.

The language of nonverbal behavioral research is characterized by diversity and esoterism. However, analysis of the literature is consistent on differentiating between nonverbal behavior and nonverbal communication. Nonverbal behavior includes both signs and communication.

Signs only imply the inference from, or the assignment of some significance to, behavior. Communication is not independent of signs. On the other hand, signs may or may not result in communication. The dependence is on the intent of the sign transmitter and the meaning for the sign held by the receiver. Communication is differentiated from a sign in that the former implies "a socially shared signal system, that is, a code, and encoder who makes something public via that code, and a decoder who responds systematically to that code" (Wiener, Devoe, Rubinow, and Geller, 1972, p. 186).

Posture (a component of kinesics) and its effects as an affect display of behavior has received much attention. Extensive study has been conducted by Mehrabian and his associates into the perceived emotional states associated with postural behavior. Fructification of such studies has been realized in the establishment of postural codes and specified criteria of body posture. The assumption is that body posture communicates.

The purpose of the review of related literature was to isolate and identify body postures and postural components as exhibited in humans and relevant to the communicative process. The following sections of literature provide a theoretical and empirical foundation for this study.

Methodological Approaches

Two broad research strategies typified the study of kinesic behavior (i.e. gestures and other body movements, including facial expression, eye movement, and posture). A systematic study of nonverbal behavior which is somewhat analogous to those of languages characterizes the "structural approach." The "external variable approach" seeks relationships between

specified nonverbal behaviors and other variables (Duncan, 1969).

Birdwhistell's research typified the structural approach to kinesic behavior. Three categories of kinesics have been identified as: pre-kinesics, microkinesics, and social kinesics (Birdwhistell, 1952).

Microkinesics, which is concerned with the identification and isolation of body movement, has been divided into structural units. Kinemes, the basic units which have structural meaning, are combined to form kinemorphs, which are further analyzed into kinemorphemic classes (Birdwhistell, 1970). These elements, which are put together into units, are arranged like steps of the spoken language and can therefore express ultimate interest in the emotions (Kendon, 1972).

Birdwhistell's linguistic approach to nonverbal research has been criticized by Allen Dittman (1971) and Paul Machotka (Spiegel and Machotka, 1974). Dittman (1978) concluded that discrete behaviors can be coded into a system of communication, but many behaviors are continuous and cannot be paralleled to the spoken language. Additionally, researchers have suggested that verbal and nonverbal languages do not appeal to the same senses (Ruesch and Kees, 1956). The presumption that information obtained through one approach will help researchers of the other school to maximize findings has been promoted (Duncan, 1969).

Functions of Nonverbal Behavior

Some anthropologists contended that nonverbal behavior originated in primitive man and was shared with animals (Werner and Kaplan, 1963). In light of current complex social interaction this behavior which maintained that primate organization must now be studied in relation to the social processes (Scheflen and Scheflen, 1972).

Nonverbal behavior is relevant in social interaction. Robert
Harper, Arthur Wiens, and Joseph Matarazzo (1978) listed the functions
of nonverbal behavior as repeating, contradicting, substituting, accenting,
relating, and regulating. Because nonverbal communication was an antecedent to verbal communication, people often revert back to nonverbal
communication in order to satisfy needs. However, in the present
cultural context verbal and nonverbal behavior are interactive and
should be studied in the functional relationship (Gladstein, 1974).

Verbal and nonverbal communication in the context of social interaction is further supported by Michael Argyle (1972), as he suggested the functions of nonverbal communication are to: manage the immediate situation, to sustain verbal communication, and to replace verbal communication. Approval nonverbal behaviors are usually reciprocated in free social interaction (Rosenfeld, 1967).

Albert Scheflen (1964) delineated the significance of postural configuration and body positioning. "They demarcate the components of individual behavior that each person contributes to the group activities; they indicate how the individual contributions are related to each other; and they define the steps and order in the interaction—that is, the 'program'" (p. 316).

Postural Psychoanalysis

In his "analytic posturology," Felix Deutsch (1952) made careful observations of body movement in analysis and attempted to correlate the patient's nonverbal behavior with the emerging themes of analysis.

Deutsch (1947) noted:

There are definite motivations for the postural behavior of every patient. Postural attitudes reflect or substitute, precede or accompany the verbal expression of unconscious material. Every individual has a characteristic basic posture at rest to which he returns whenever he has altered from it. (p. 211)

Theodore Jacobs (1973), T. F. Braatoy (1954), and Felix Deutsch and William Murphy (1955) indicated that a client's postural behavior was related to his psychological states. John Blazer (1966) observed and identified 10 common leg positions exhibited in women interviewees.

These leg positions were then correlated with various personality characteristics. Postural rigidity has been employed (Reich, 1945) as a measure of a client's resistance to change. The downward angling of the head is also considered as an observer clue to depression (Waxer, 1976).

Others concluded that body posture exerts considerable influence on apperception, thinking, and emotions (Beigel, 1952). One psychotherapist even assumed the client's posture in order to get a better idea of what the patient was feeling (Fromm-Reichmann, 1950). The suggestion that a client's temperment could be changed through the manipulation of his nonverbal behavior eventually evolved (Lowen, 1958).

Argyle (1975, p. 281) developed a table representing psychoanalytic interpretations of posture. Refer to Table 1.

Postural and Verbal Behavior

In the course of human interaction the receiver (decoder) is likely to be confronted with both verbal and nonverbal stimuli. Research has been conducted in order to determine the importance of each channel. Dittman (1978) concluded that the reception apparatus gives preference to the channel whose information density is higher and the channel with

Table 1
Psychoanalytic Interpretations of Postures

		Posture	Interpretation
Arms	1.	Folded arms, self-wrapping	Self-protection, especially of breasts, withdrawal
	2.	Bodice of dress clutched	Fears of bodily damage
	3.	Shoulders shrugged, palms out	Passive helplessness
Legs	1.	High crossing (females)	Self-protection, withdrawal
	2.	Uncrossing	Flirtation
	3.	Exhibitionistic leg cross (female)	Flirtation
	4.	No movements in pelvis	Sexual inhibition
Trunk	1.	Stiff, military bearing (males), prim and upright (females)	Imprisoning anxiety
	2.	Vain, affected bearing	Conflict between flirtation and shyness
	3.	Drooping, listless, immobile	Helplessness, request for help
	4.	Nestling into chair languid, erotic manner	Expresses sexual impulses

Note. From Bodily Communication by M. Argyle. London: Methuen and Co., Ltd., 1975, p. 281.

the greatest intensity. The verbal channel is usually more dense, while greater intensity is reflected in coded body language.

Subjects have been able to discriminate between speaker and message when judging sincerity and intentions. Judgments of nonverbal communication were directly influenced by the quality of the preceiver's cognitive system (McMahan, 1974). However, Allan Korvola (1970) found

no significant relationship existed between the nonverbal communication transmitted and the cognitive level of the verbal communication.

In a previous study Paul Ekman (1967) had professional modern dancers to select the correct body positions from incorrect positions when given 20 speech interview samples. They were able to match the verbal sample when seeing only body position.

Postural and Facial Behavior

Interpretation of facial and postural behavior has been investigated in order to determine the commonance or dissonance of the cues. Information which is communicated by the head may be independent of that communicated by the body. Ekman's (1965) study investigated Harold Schlosberg's (1954) three dimensional theory of emotion—pleasantness—unpleasantness, attention—rejection, and sleep—tension. Ekman found that affective information (pleasantness—unpleasantness) communicated by the head may be independent of the body, while body positions communicating related information on sleep—tension dimension were accompanied by dissimilar facial expressions.

When determining the pleasant-unpleasant dimension of behavior, observers find it easier to use facial cues. However, when facial cues were terminated, the judges were remarkably consistent in appraising feelings expressed in bodily cues. Pleasant body positions consisted of relaxed postures with little movement, while positions involving obvious muscle tension and nervous activity constituted the unpleasant body position. Research was also discovered that professional dancers were more capable of judging body cues than were psychotherapists (Dittman, Parloff, and Boomer, 1965).

Paul Ekman and Wallace Friesen (1967) found that specific emotions can frequently be perceived from both facial expressions and body acts, although facial expressions are considered more useful. They indicated that body posture and movement which follows facial affect displays can be interpreted as "coping with the facially display effect" (Ekman and Friesen, 1969, p. 76). Data which conflicts with the above study has been gathered by Jeffery Shapiro (1972). He found that judges who rated still photographs reached a greater consensus when rating body positions alone as opposed to rating faces alone. However, when given the opportunity to rate the whole person, they did not use body cues.

Postural Cues and Deception

Posture has provided cues to deceptive behavior. "He that has eyes to see and ears to hear may convince himself that no mortal can keep a secret. If his lips are silent, he chatters with his finger-tips; betrayal cozes out of him at every pore" (Freud, 1905, p. 94).

Researchers consistently indicate that nonverbal behavior reveals deception. However, this leakage can occur from numerous body sources. Ekman and Friesen (1969) indicated that the face is the best sender of nonverbal behavior, whereas the legs and feet are the worst sender. However, because the face is the best sender, it is the most carefully monitored and is therefore not a major source of leakage and deception cues. Conversely, the legs and feet are least responded to and consequently a good source of leakage and deception cues.

Facial and bodily cues have been observed when a subject has engaged in deceptive behavior. Supportive of the previous hypothesis, subjects who were engaged in deceptive behavior indicated that attempts were made

to disguise the face rather than the body. When given a sample of the subject's behavior from an honest interview and identified as nondeceptive, observers significantly made more accurate judgments of deceptive behavior from body rather than facial cues (Ekman and Friesen, 1974). However, Sandor Feldman (1959) found that ratings by naive judges, as opposed to trained judges, revealed an inability to detect lying and truthful subjects by observing body cues. Judges viewing the face were able to detect more displeasure in lying subjects than in truthful subjects.

Fixed Postural Analysis

Various techniques have been utilized in the analysis of body position and posture. Still photographs have been employed as the interpretative process of position. An early study was conducted by William James (1932) who employed photographs of 347 postures. Four postural categories were developed in his study as follows: approach, withdrawal, expansion, and contradiction. For each of these categories head and trunk positions were found to be the most important indicators. A forward lean of the trunk was interpreted as positive, while a backward tilt was negative. Postural interpretations were similar whether the subject viewed the posture and interpreted it or if viewed, imitated, and then interpreted.

Stick figures have been used in an attempt to interpret the interaction of numerous pairs of postures (Argyle, 1975). Machotka (Spiegel and Machotka, 1974) utilized line drawings of nude female figures which exhibited varying degrees of arm openness. Closed-arm positions were interpreted as cold, rejecting, shy, and passive. Moderate or extreme open-arm positions were regarded as warm and accepting. A curvilinear

relationship existed in degrees of arm-positions, as subjects preferred moderate open-arm positions to extreme closed-arm or extreme open-arm positions.

Two profiles of human figures were presented in 27 postural variations to subjects for decoding (Knapp, 1965). The models were rotated to backward, upright, and forward positions. A significantly low rate of positive responses were found when the most elevated figure was rotated backwards.

Postural Orientation

Degree of postural orientation related to forward or backward lean has been found to be the index of positive or negative attitudes as portrayed by communicators (Fretz, 1966). Ratings have been conducted on counselors who exhibited affiliative and unaffiliative nonverbal behavior. In this study Michael LaCrosse (1975) employed a 20 percent forward body lean as a criterion for alliliative behavior. In an attempt to determine the relationship between the amount of verbalization in free association contingent upon expressive movements and verbal reinforcement, (Reece and Whitman, 1962) forward postural lean was used as a variable. Forward lean and backward tilt have also been used as indexes in rating therapist types (Smith, 1972).

The early study of James (1932) discovered that a forward lean of the trunk was positively interpreted while a backward tilt was perceived as negative. Richard Katz (1964) studied postural configurations which composed what he called an "understanding posture." The result of his findings indicated that a central cue of the "understanding posture" was a forward tilt of the body. Similarly, Mehrabian's (1968a) experiments

determined that the communicator's angle or degree of backward lean of the torso decreased for increasing positive attitudes toward addressees. In an interview situation, those who tend to communicate less positive feelings by reclining more also perceive themselves as assuming greater distances from addressees in general (Gottheil, Coney, and Paredes, 1968).

Postural Relaxation

Relaxation indexes of posture play a critical role in the evaluation and interpretation of nonverbal behavior. Nonverbal behavior may be considered as multidimensional (Schlosberg, 1954; Williams and Sundene, 1965; and Osgood, 1966). More recently, Mehrabian (1972) developed a three dimensional framework to describe referents of nonverbal behavior. The framework included evaluation, potency or status, and responsiveness. He and others have determined that postural relaxation is significant to the formulation of perceived interpretations of nonverbal behavior. Subsequently, he has developed the subdimension of postural relaxation to be incorporated into the aforementioned conceptual three dimensional scheme of nonverbal analysis.

After extensive experimental analysis, Mehrabian (1969a) established the reliability and validity of criteria for rating the relaxation dimension of standing or seated postures. The relaxation dimension includes the following components: arm-position asymmetry, sideways lean, leg-position asymmetry, hand relaxation, neck relaxation, and reclining angle. See Table 2.

Postural relaxation relates to both attitude and status. Mehrabian (1968) found that male communicators displayed a lack of relaxation when

Table 2

Relaxation Cues

A. Arm Position Asymmetry

- 1. Symmetrical position of the arms: for example, hands clasped at the midsection, arms folded symmetrically, or both hanging down or akimbo while standing.
- Slight asymmetry in the position of the arms: for example, both hands resting on the lap of the communicator, but one is from 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other, or one hand clasps the other at the wrist.
- 3. Moderate asymmetry in the position of the arms: for example, one hand holds an elbow or the upper arm whereas the other hand is free, one arm hanging loosely and the other hanging by a finger which is stuck in a pocket.
- 4. Extreme asymmetry in the position of the arms: for example, one arm in lap and the other hooked over the back of the chair, one hand stuck in a pocket and the other resting on knee or hanging loosely, or only one arm akimbo.
- B. Sideways Lean: the number of degrees that a plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is away from a plane cutting his chair bilaterally in half. This angle is estimated to the nearest 10 degree and cannot exceed 90 degrees.

C. Leg Position Asymmetry

- 1. Symmetrical position of the legs with both feet flat on the floor and the insteps touching.
- 2. Symmetrical position of the legs with both feet flat on the floor and the insteps not touching.
- Asymmetrical stance of the legs with both feet resting flat on the floor, such as when one foot is moved to a more forward position.
- 4. Asymmetrical stance of the legs with one or both feet partially lifted off the floor, as when there is a bend at the ankle and only an edge of the foot is resting on the floor, or when the legs are crossed while seated.

D. Hand Relaxation

 Very tense; hands or fists are tightly clenched, or hands are clasping anything tightly, or hands are in motion, such as drumming fingers.

- 2. Moderately tense; loosely clasped or in loose fists or clasping any object or part of the body loosely.
- 3. Relaxed; fingers are extended but not stiffly.

E. Neck Relaxation

- 1. The head is not supported and the line of vision is pointing 10 degrees or more above the horizontal.
- 2. The head is not supported and the line of vision is within 10 degrees of the horizontal.
- The head is supported as when resting on the back of a couch or is hanging so that the line of vision forms 10 or more degrees below the horizontal.
- F. Reclining Angle: The number of degrees that a plane defined by a line from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is away from the vertical plane. Angles are measured in units of 10 degrees and whereas reclining angles are scored as positive, forward leaning angles are scored as negative.

Note. Increasing degrees of each of the preceding criteria indicate more relaxation. With the exception of the sideways lean and reclining angles which are not scored for standing positions, all the criteria above are scored for both seated and standing positions. From "Some Referents and Measures of Nonverbal Behavior" by A. Mehrabian, Behavior Research Methods and Instrumentation, 1969a, 1, 204.

confronted with intensely disliked male addressees. Encoding and decoding methods were employed during experimentation. Another encoding experiment (Mehrabian, 1968a) required subjects to imagine themselves in situations involving addressees who were either intensely liked, moderately liked, neither liked or disliked, moderately disliked and intensely disliked. Subjects were then asked to sit as if they were interacting with these hypothetical addressees. Arm and leg asymmetry were not used as a

variable of arm relaxation. Findings indicated that there was no significant difference in the relationship between openness of arrangement of arms or legs of seated communicators and attitude toward the addressees. An explanation relative to this finding was offered by the experimenter. "It is possible that the heretofore neglected variable of symmetry in the positioning of the arms and legs can yield a more fruitful indicator of attitudes and particularly of status relations" (Mehrabian, 1968a, p. 29).

In another 1968 study, Mehrabian (1968a) found that a tense posture relative to a moderately relaxed posture communicated a more negative attitude. Also, a communicator in the standing position tended to use arms-akimbo positions more with disliked addressees than with liked addressees. In a group sketch of six figures the arms-akimbo position was rated as haughty, inflexible, and defiant (Spiegel and Machotka, 1974).

Postural relaxation also provides measures of the status dimension of nonverbal behavior. Observations in psychiatric staff meetings revealed that lower status participants (interns) were less relaxed than higher status participants (psychiatrists) (Goffman, 1961). Status was also implied from a relaxation factor in another experiment conducted by Albert Mehrabian and Sheldon Ksionzky (1972). The relaxation factor had a significant but negative correlation with affiliative, integration, and distress behavior factors as well as reported affiliation with strangers and confederates. The arm asymmetry position contributed to the behavioral index of distress—a by-product of object manipulation which usually involved the use of only one hand.

Albert Mehrabian and John Friar (1969) concluded that the relationship between the attitude of a communicator toward his addressee and the degree of relaxation exhibited by the communicator is curvilinear. With a disliked addressee, the degree of postural relaxation is either extremely high or low. Moderate postural relaxation is manifest for a liked addressee. However, a linear relationship exists between relaxation and status. A high degree of relaxation is present with a low-status addressee and moderate degree of relaxation was observed with peers. An excellent review of experimental findings dealing with the posture and position of a communicator relative to his attitude and status to addressee is provided by Mehrabian (1969b).

Degrees of persuasiveness can also be indexed by varying degrees of postural relaxation. A decoding experiment required college undergraduates to interpret 10 seconds of videotaped recordings with four degrees of postural relaxation as they related to communication persuasiveness (Mehrabian and Williams, 1969). Male communicators who exhibited slightly tense postures were perceived as significantly less persuasive than those who displayed slightly relaxed postures. Female communicators were perceived as more persuasive when exhibiting slightly tense postures. Moderately and extremely relaxed postures were detrimental to the communicator's perceived persuasiveness in both sexes.

An experiment by Hugh McGinley, Richard LeFevre, and Pat McGinley (1975) investigated open, neutral, and closed postural positions on persuasion. More addressee opinion change was elicited by the communicator with the open body posture. This person was also rated by the addressee as being more positive and more potent.

Varying degrees of anxiety have been correlated with postural relaxation. In a unique study, Anthony Jurich and Julie Jurich (1974) interviewed 40 female college students concerning their sexual attitudes.

Questions were ordered to elicit increasing levels of anxiety. Prior to and after the interview, finger sweat prints were taken to measure the degree of anxiety. A global assessment of anxiety was conducted along with postural relaxation ratings. In every instance, correlations of global assessment, sweat print, and relaxation indicators were positive to a significant degree.

Mehrabian (1971) used a shock factor in investigating postural relaxation. Under one experimental condition subjects were rewarded for lying successfully. However, the subjects were threatened with and given a mild shock if the judge detected deceit in the shock condition. There was less relaxation under the threatening condition than under the reward condition.

Posture and Sex Differences

Experimental studies have identified sexual differences relative to posture and body position. Forestene London (1975) supplied evidence that perceptions of nonverbal behavior differ among sex and race. In an interview situation John Sterrett (1976) found that men react more positively to excess body language than females. An open posture of female encoders communicates a more positive attitude than a closed posture, whereas no differences in attitudes of men are communicated by open and closed positions (Mehrabian, 1968b). Similarly, Susan Beekman (1975) found that females tend to exhibit more affiliative nonverbal behavior during dyadic conversation. However, sex of the conversation partner did not have an effect on displayed nonverbal behavior.

Relative to the relaxation dimension, male communicators exhibit

less body relaxation and a greater degree of vigilance toward intensely

disliked males. In the presence of disliked females, males tend to display a more relaxed position, as indicated by sideways lean in a chair (Mehrabian, 1968a). The same study found that greater dislike of both male and female addressees resulted in greater relaxation in female communicators.

Nonverbal Behavior Research in Education

Relatively speaking, educators have only recently become involved in the formal investigation of nonverbal behavior and how it affects the classroom. According to Charles Galloway (1972), there are several explanations for this phenomenon. Although there was little or no support for the following assumption from behavioral scientists, educators believed that nonverbal behaviors were consistent with verbal behaviors. Reliable observations of nonverbal influence are difficult to obtain. Identification of precise referents is also an arduous task.

Many of the studies in education have been concerned with the quantity and kinds of nonverbal interactions as they occur in the class-room (French, 1974). These nonverbal phenomena have been studied in situ, as no attempt was made to manipulate or control variables (Achilles, 1974). Quantitative and qualitative variations of teacher communicated behavior have been found in relation to student I.Q. (Chaiken, Sigler, and Derlega, 1974), sex (Cosper, 1970), social class (Shepard, 1971), age (Fowler, 1972), and race (Crump, 1974).

Some experimentation which attempts to assess the effects of non-verbal behavior on subjects has occurred in the classroom. Robert Woolfolk and Anita Woolfolk (1974) investigated the conditions of positive verbal-positive nonverbal, positive verbal-negative nonverbal,

negative verbal-positive nonverbal, and negative verbal-negative non-verbal upon students' perceptions of teachers. All positive teacher behavior resulted in the most positive and attractive ratings, while all negative teacher behavior resulted in the least positive and attractive ratings. Cartoon drawings of teacher gestures, positions, and stances have also been used to examine the feeling of students toward the elementary classroom teacher (Schusler, 1972).

A limited number of educational studies have analyzed the effects of teacher nonverbal behavior on student task performance. Anita Woolfolk (1977) discovered that student performance rate of spelling was significantly higher when teachers were nonverbally negative. Independent nonverbal variables concentrated in facial expressions, which provide little indication of posture effects. A similar finding by Ruth Middleman (1972) indicated that black lower socioeconomic children were more productive on a drawing task when teacher nonverbal behavior was negative. There was no significant difference in task performance of white and other black socioeconomic groups as a result of nonverbal cues. Posture was included as a component of the composite nonverbal behavior.

Summary

Research in the area of nonverbal behavior and its relationship to academic and social performance in the educational classroom was skant. A few studies did attempt to assess the effects of some nonverbal behavior eminating from an instructor on academic achievement. Yet, educators proclaim that nonverbal behavior is operative and interactive and of sufficient consequence to advocate the implementation of nonverbal communicative principles. In essence, the assertation that nonverbal

behavior plays a vital role in the classroom environment is commonly accepted, with little or no research evidence to support this claim.

A vast majority of the nonverbal behavioral research reviewed has been conducted by psychologists in clinical settings. Relevant to this study were the experiments which involved postural assessment. Documentation of postural states as correlates to the emotions abounds in the literature.

Postural studies have emphasized inferential conclusions rather than conclusions drawn from continuous direct measurement techniques (overt). No studies have analyzed an extensive array of teacher modeled postures on the effects of student learning. The study described herein was designed to attain this goal.

Chapter 3

METHOD

Design

The intent of the study was to determine the effects, if any, on teaching effectiveness of variations of instructor modeled postural positions. The design accommodated the testing of the two experimental hypotheses:

H_{O1}: There will be no significant difference in the mean scores on tests of subject content after each treatment of extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed sitting postures within the intact group.

H₀₂: There will be no significant difference in the mean scores on tests of subject content between male and female students who are instructed by a communicator exhibiting an extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed sitting posture.

Female
$$X_1 O_1 X_2 O_2 X_3 O_3 X_4 O_4 X_5 O_5$$

$$\mathtt{Male} \qquad \mathtt{X}_1 \ \mathtt{O}_1 \ \mathtt{X}_2 \ \mathtt{O}_2 \ \mathtt{X}_3 \ \mathtt{O}_3 \ \mathtt{X}_4 \ \mathtt{O}_4 \ \mathtt{X}_5 \ \mathtt{O}_5$$

An intact group, consisting of male and female tenth-grade students, was exposed to five experimental treatments. The manipulative independent variable for the intact group was the introduction of varying instructor

modeled postures into the instructional situation. Postures were defined in terms of the relaxation dimension as: extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed.

The chronological order of postural treatment presentation follows:

- 1. X_1 -- Instruction was presented to the experimental group by a teacher modeling a moderately relaxed posture.
- 2. X₂ -- Instruction was presented to the experimental group by a teacher modeling an extremely relaxed posture.
- 3. X_3 -- Instruction was presented to the experimental group by a teacher modeling a slightly tense posture.
- 4. X_4 -- Instruction was presented to the experimental group by a teacher modeling an extremely tense posture.
- 5. X₅ -- Instruction was presented to the experimental group by a teacher modeling a slightly relaxed posture.

Treatment of the Data

The \underline{t} test was employed to analyze the data collected in the study. Since the design strategy involved both between-subjects and within-subjects, data analysis was undertaken by use of the independent sample \underline{t} test and the repeated measures \underline{t} test. The hypotheses were tested for the p < .05 level of significance.

Subjects

Tenth-grade students from one Upper East Tennessee school comprised the population sample for the study. Authorization was initially obtained from the East Tennessee State University Institutional Review Board to employ human subjects for the purpose of the study. With the approval

of the principal, teachers, subjects, and parents, the entire sophomore class, consisting of 69 students, served as an intact experimental group.

The Informed Consent Form is displayed in Appendix A.

In order to efficiently manage and administer the experiment, the intact group was subdivided into two equal groups. Each subgroup received the same experimental conditions. Utilizing the random table of numbers, subjects were randomly assigned to one of two subgroups.

Data obtained from each subgroup were pooled collectively.

Instrumentation

Instructional content which had not been formally taught to the subjects was selected by the experimenter. The subjects do not enroll in Economics until the junior or senior year in school. Economics was selected as lesson content based on the above assumption. A <u>U.S. News</u> and World Report (May 1, 1978) article entitled, "ABC's of How Our Economy Works," provided the information contained in the instruction. The unit was subdivided into five instructional segments. Instructional content in all lessons was independent of each other. The sequence of presentation follows:

- 1. Lesson 1 -- The Business Cycle
- 2. Lesson 2 -- The Business Enterprise
- 3. Lesson 3 -- Money
- 4. Lesson 4 -- The Stock Market
- 5. Lesson 5 -- Labor Unions

Appendix B contains duplicates of the five lesson scripts (including instructions to subjects) which were utilized in the production and subsequent presentation of instruction. Test items were formulated from

the lesson scripts and are contained in Appendix C. The order by which test items were presented was determined by random assignment. For each of the five tests, 10 true and 10 false test items were randomly sequenced. All test items were derived from the appropriate lesson scripts to insure content validity of each test. Appendix D includes a representation of test item content validity.

Production of Videotaped Instruction for Presentation

A unit lesson was designed and subdivided into five equal segments.

The duration of each segment was 7 minutes. Each of the five experimental conditions was represented by one 7-minute segment of instruction.

Experimental conditions were randomly assigned to lessons. Postures modeled by the instructor were assigned to the instructional lessons as follows:

- 1. Lesson 1 -- moderately relaxed posture
- 2. Lesson 2 -- extremely relaxed posture
- 3. Lesson 3 -- slightly tense posture
- 4. Lesson 4 -- extremely tense posture
- 5. Lesson 5 -- slightly relaxed posture

The criteria for each degree of postural relaxation (sitting position) contained in the videotaped instruction are listed as:

1. Extremely Tense Posture — the instructor's arms are extremely symmetrical and in a folded position. The plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 20 degrees forward of the vertical plane. The hands are tightly clenched. Positioning of the legs is extremely symmetrical with both feet flat on the floor and insteps touching. The head is not supported and the line of vision is pointing 20 degrees above

the horizontal. No sideways lean is present as the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is O degrees away from the vertical.

- 2. Slightly Tense Posture the instructor's arms are in a symmetrical position and resting in the lap. The plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 10 degrees forward of the vertical plane. Hands are loosely clasped. Legs are symmetrically positioned with both feet flat on the floor and insteps not touching. The head is positioned so that the line of vision is pointing to within 10 degrees above the horizontal. No sideways lean is observable as the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 0 degrees away from the vertical.
- 3. Slightly Relaxed Posture the instructor's arms are slightly asymmetrical where both hands are resting in the lap, and one hand is 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other. The plane from the model's shoulders to his hips is within 10 degrees forward of the vertical plane. Fingers of the model's hands are extended but not stiffly. The legs are slightly asymmetrical with both feet resting flat on the floor, and one foot is 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other. The head is positioned so that the line of vision forms to within 10 degrees below the horizontal. A slight sideways lean is exhibited by the communicator, as the plane cutting his torso bilaterally in half is 10 degrees away from the vertical.
- 4. Moderately Relaxed Posture -- the instructor's arms are moderately asymmetrical with one hand positioned on the knee 8 to 10 inches more forward than the other and the elbow of the rear arm resting on the chair's arm. Fingers are extended but not stiffly. The plane from the

instructor's shoulders to his hips is 15 degrees back of the vertical plane. The legs are in a moderately asymmetrical position with one leg extended forward and the other bent at the knee. The head hangs so that the line of vision forms between 10 to 20 degrees below the horizontal. A moderate sideways lean is present as the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 20 degrees away from the vertical.

5. Extremely Relaxed Posture — the instructor's arms are in an extreme asymmetrical position with one arm placed in the lap while the other arm is hooked over the back of the chair. Fingers are extended but not stiffly. The plane from the model's hips to his shoulders is 30 degrees back of the vertical plane. Legs are crossed in an extremely asymmetrical position with one foot lifted off the floor and the other foot's edge resting on the floor. The head hangs so that the line of vision forms more than 20 degrees below the horizontal. Extreme sideways lean is evidenced as the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 30 degrees away from the vertical.

To insure constancy of video and audio quality, the same videotape recording and playback hardware was used throughout all experimental treatments. All videotapes were recorded and played back in color.

Listed below are the hardware employed in this study.

- 1. Sony Trinicon Camera -- Model DXC-1600
- 2. Sony Reel-to-Reel Videotape Recorder (Master) -- Model AV-8650
- 3. Sony Cassette Videotape Recorder (Slave) -- Model VO-2850
- 4. Sony Trinitron Receiver (19 inch) -- Model CUM-1750
- 5. Colortran Lights (five) -- Model mini-light 10 (three)

 Model multi-10 (two)
- 6. Shure Lavalier Mike -- Model 570

Lens, lens setting, lighting, props, and backdrop remained constant during the recording of all lessons. Standardization of hardware and software was maintained during all experimental conditions in the pilot study and experimental study.

Reliability Assessment of Videotaped Postures

Reliability of all postural positions displayed by the instructor in the five videotaped lessons was tested. Five volunteers from the advanced graduate seminar at East Tennessee State University were trained by the experimenter to identify extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed sitting postures in accordance with the established criteria for these degrees of postural relaxation.

Upon mastery of this skill, the evaluators were presented 25
10-second segments of the five videotaped lessons which were ultimately presented to the experimental group of tenth-graders. The five original videotapes were partitioned into 10-second segments and assigned a number. Five 10-second segments were randomly selected from each experimental condition. The order of presentation for the 25 segments was in addition randomly determined.

Each 10-second segment of videotaped instruction was edited onto one videotape. A 10-second section, containing a black screen and an audio recording of the segment number, separated each of the 25 sample segments. These videotaped segments of instruction were presented to the evaluators without audio. Appendix E contains a copy of the criteria for each degree of postural relaxation given to the evaluators and the checksheet for rating the 25 10-second videotaped segments.

Reliability for each videotaped experimental condition was determined by totaling the number of evaluator agreements and dividing that sum by the number of agreements plus the number of disagreements.

For the purpose of the study, an acceptable reliability coefficient of .80 was established. A reliability coefficient of 1.00 was obtained for each of the five videotaped postures. Appendix F presents the reliability data of the videotaped postures.

Pilot Test for Intratest and Intertest Similarity

A pilot study was conducted by the researcher using the content of the five lessons and the accompanying posttests described previously. The investigator chose to use subjects from a different population than the proposed study. This was done in order to avoid any contamination of the results of the present study. The volunteer pilot group of tenth-grade subjects was comprised of five males and five females. Subjects were randomly selected from a study hall at a second local high school. The pilot test was designed to determine intratest and intertest similarity of the five posttests.

The pilot group was presented the same instructions, lesson content, and tests as were later employed in the final experiment. The same hardward and software were utilized for the pilot group. However, the videotaped instruction did not include a display of the five degrees of postural relaxation. The video track of the presented instruction included only a bust shot of the instructor throughout the five lessons. Appendix G contains a table of the pilot group's raw scores.

Chi square was utilized in presenting, analyzing, and interpreting the pilot data for test similarity. A five-by-two chi square analysis was concluded at the p < .05 level of significance. The obtained chi square factor of 1.3 was not significant. Intratest and intertest similarity data obtained in the pilot study appear in Appendix H.

Procedures

In order to facilitate the administration of the study, the intact group of subjects was subdivided into two groups. All subjects were randomly assigned to a subgroup. Each subject participated in the study during one half of the first school period. The subjects in each of the two subgroups were instructed via the intercommunications system of the high school to report to the classroom in which the experiment was to take place.

As the subjects entered the room, they were invited by an adult male volunteer monitor to select a seat. When all subjects were seated, the monitor moved to the front and center of the experimental group and provided the initial instructions. Appendix I contains the monitor's instructions to the students. The monitor then distributed one copy of the test (face down) and one pencil per subject.

Following the monitor's instructions, the videotape recorder was started. Additional instructions were presented to the subjects via the audio track of the videotape. Concurrently, the video track of the tape displayed the graphic "Instructions." The instructions were followed by a black screen and no audio for 10 seconds. One lesson was then presented. Upon termination of the lesson, instructions necessary for test administration were delivered by the videotape recording. Instructions were

presented according to the procedure previously described. At this time, the subjects completed the test. Appendix C contains duplicates of the tests which were administered at the conclusion of each videotaped instructional unit.

During the experiment, the task of the subjects was to react to the stimuli of the videotaped instruction. The response task of the subjects was to complete a true-false test consisting of 20 items contained in the lesson following each of five lessons. All lessons were 7 minutes in length, and subjects were alloted a maximum of 15 minutes to complete each test. Subjects participated in one session per week for five weeks. The data for the study were gathered during each Tuesday of five successive weeks, beginning in March, 1979.

Chapter 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results

A selected group of tenth-graders from an Upper East Tennessee school were tested in order to determine the influence of instructor modeled postural positions on task performance. Each subject was presented instruction by a lecturer modeling each of the postures identified as: extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed.

Post-instructional test scores on economics provided the basic data for the present study. The raw scores consisting of the number of correct responses to five twenty-item true-false tests for the five experimental treatments are arrayed in Appendix J.

These data were keypunched into IBM 80-column cards and read into the IBM 370/135 memory bank operating under the DOS/VS system at the East Tennessee State University Computer Center. They were analyzed by an SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) which computed $\underline{\mathbf{t}}$ test and breakdown procedures of the data.

The mean test scores for five instructor modeled postural positions are shown in Table 3. Variance profile scores for males, females, and the total group are displayed in Appendix K. Data collected from the study were analyzed by an application of repeated measures and independent samples t tests to all possible combinations of postural treatments.

Table 3

Comparison of Mean Scores of Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Males, Females, and Total Group

Subjects	Treatments					
	Moderately Relaxed X	Extremely Relaxed ^X 2	Slightly Tense X ₃	Extremely Tense X ₄	Slightly Relaxed X ₅	
Males	15.38	15.63	15.63	14.38	14.21	
Females	14.24	13.90	13.81	12.05	12.67	
Total	14.84	14.82	14.78	13.29	13.49	

Two null hypotheses were tested in the study. The first null hypothesis was tested for significant difference at the .05 level:

H₀₁: There will be no significant differences in the mean scores on tests of subject content after each treatment of extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed sitting postures within the intact group.

The total group's test variances, means, and \underline{t} values for all possible postural pair combinations are contained in Table 4. As an example, comparisons are made between conditions X_1 and X_2 , X_1 and X_3 , X_1 and X_4 , X_1 and X_5 . Table 5 presents a summary matrix of \underline{t} values for the total group.

An examination of the test scores revealed that the mean score for the total group in the moderately relaxed postural presentation was 14.84 and 13.29 (Table 4) in the extremely tense postural presentation. The t value of 3.91 was significant at the .001 level. Mean scores for the

Table 4 Total Group Test Variances, Means, and \underline{t} Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions

Treatment	N	Variance	Mean	<u>t</u> Value
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	45	6.907	14.84	0.05
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	45	7.513	1.4.82	
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	45	6.907	14.84	0.18
Slightly Tense X ₃	45	6.404	14.78	
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	45	6.907	14.84	3.91**
Extremely Tense X ₄	45	5.437	13.29	
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	45	6.907	14.84	2.93*
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	45	6.847	13.49	
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	45	7.513	14.82	0.13
Slightly Tense X ₃	45	6.404	14.78	
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	45	7.513	14.82	3.93**
Extremely Tense X ₄	45	5.437	13.29	
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	45	7.513	14.82	3.14*
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	45	6.847	13.49	
Slightly Tense X ₃	45	6.404	14.78	4.41**
Extremely Tense X ₄	45	5.437	13.29	
Slightly Tense X ₃	45	6.404	14.78	3.38*
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	45	6.847	13.49	
Extremely Tense X ₄	45	5.437	13.29	0.50
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	45	6.847	13.29	
-				

total group also indicated that test performance following the instructional presentation by an instructor modeling a moderately relaxed posture was significantly superior to the slightly relaxed presentation. The mean scores were 14.84 and 13.49 respectively, and the $\underline{\mathbf{t}}$ value of 2.93 was significant at the .01 level.

Table 5

Summary Matrix of t Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Total Group

	Extremely Relaxed X ₂	Slightly Tense X ₃	Extremely Tense X ₄	Slightly Relaxed ^X 5
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	0.05	0.18	3.91**	2.93*
Extremely Relaxed X ₂		0.13	3.93**	3.14*
Slightly Tense X ₃			4.41**	3.38*
Extremely Tense X				0.50
* P < .01 ** P	< .001	df=44		

Examination of the test scores disclosed that the mean score for the total group in the extremely relaxed postural presentation was 14.82 and 13.29 (Table 4) in the extremely tense postural presentation. The total evalue of 3.93 was different at the .001 level of significance. Mean scores for the total group also revealed that test performance on lesson content presented by an instructor modeling an extremely relaxed posture was significantly superior than in the slightly relaxed posture. The mean scores were 14.82 and 13.49 respectively, and the total evalue of 3.14 at the .01 level was significantly different.

The mean test score for the total group in the slightly tense

postural presentation was 14.78 and 13.29 (Table 4) in the extremely tense postural presentation. The <u>t</u> value of 4.41 was significant at the .001 level. Total group mean scores also indicated that test performance following the instructional presentation by an instructor modeling a slightly tense posture was significantly higher than in the slightly relaxed posture. The mean score for the slightly tense posture treatment phase was 14.78, while 13.49 was the mean score for the slightly relaxed posture. A <u>t</u> value of 3.38 was significant at the .01 level.

The first null hypothesis was rejected. However, data indicated that total intact group mean scores were significantly lower when presented lesson content by an instructor modeling an extremely tense posture as compared with instruction presented in a moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense posture. Learner achievement was also significantly less in the slightly relaxed posture when contrasted with achievement during the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense treatment phases. Mean test scores reached their apex during the moderately relaxed postural phase and declined to the lowest level during the extremely tense experimental phase.

The second null hypothesis was tested for statistical difference at the .05 level of significance:

H₀₂: There will be no significant difference in the mean scores on tests of subject content between male and female students who are instructed by a communicator exhibiting an extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed sitting posture.

Female $X_1 \circ_1 X_2 \circ_2 X_3 \circ_3 X_4 \circ_4 X_5 \circ_5$ Male $X_1 \circ_1 X_2 \circ_2 X_3 \circ_3 X_4 \circ_4 X_5 \circ_5$ Female test variances, means, and <u>t</u> values for all possible postural pair comparisons are contained in Table 6. A summary matrix of female <u>t</u> values is presented in Table 7.

An examination of test scores disclosed that the mean score for females in the moderately relaxed postural presentation was 14.24 and 12.05 (Table 6) in the extremely tense postural presentation. The t value of 4.18 was significantly different beyond the .001 level. A significant difference was also detected between treatment conditions two and four. On this occasion, females scored significantly better on the test following the extremely relaxed postural presentation (mean of 13.90) as opposed to the extremely tense presentation (mean 12.67). The t value of 3.12 was significant at the .01 level. Test scores of females on instructional content were significantly superior in the slightly tense condition when compared with scores obtained during the extremely tense postural treatment. The t value of 3.41 was significantly different at the .01 level.

Male test variances, means, and \underline{t} values for all possible postural pair comparisons are contained in Table 8. A summary matrix of male \underline{t} values is presented in Table 9.

The mean scores for males in the extremely relaxed postural presentation was 15.63 and 14.38 (Table 8) in the extremely tense postural presentation. The \underline{t} value of 2.41 was significant at the .05 level. Mean scores for the male subjects also indicated that test performance on lesson content presented by an instructor modeling an extremely relaxed posture was significantly superior than in the slightly relaxed posture. The mean scores were 15.63 and 14.21 respectively. The \underline{t} value of 2.76 at the .05 level was significantly different.

Table 6 Female Test Variances, Means, and t Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions

Treatment	N	Variance	Меап	<u>t</u> Value
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	21	8.891	14.24	0.48
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	21	5.891	13.90	
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	21	8.891	14.24	0.86
Slightly Tense X ₃	21	4.862	13.81	
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	21	8.891	14.24	4.18**
Extremely Tense X ₄	21	3.848	12.05	
Moderately Relaxed X_1	21	8.891	14.24	2.06
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	21	6.933	12.67	
Extremely Relaxed X2	21	5.891	13.90	0.16
Slightly Tense X ₃	21	4.862	13.81	
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	21	5.891	13.90	3.12*
Extremely Tense X ₄	21	3.848	12.05	
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	21	5.891	13.90	1.74
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	21	6.933	12.67	
Slightly Tense X ₃	21	4.862	13.81	3.41*
Extremely Tense X ₄	21	3.848	12.05	
Slightly Tense X ₃	21	4.862	13.81	1.74
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	21	6.933	12.67	
Extremely Tense X ₄	21	3.838	12.05	1.01
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	21	6.933	12.67	

Table 7 Summary Matrix of t Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Females

	Extremely Relaxed ^X 2	Slightly Tense X ₃	Extremely Tense X ₄	Slightly Relaxed ^X 5
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	0.48	0.86	4.18**	2.06
Extremely Relaxed X ₂		0.16	3.12*	1.74
Slightly Tense X ₃			3.41*	1.74
Extremely Tense X ₄				1.01

Examination of the test scores revealed that the mean score for males in the slightly tense postural presentation was 15.63 and 14.38 (Table 8) in the extremely tense postural presentation. The t value of 2.79 was significant at the .01 level. Mean scores for males also disclosed that test performance following the instructional presentation by an instructor modeling a slightly tense posture was significantly superior to that in the slightly relaxed posture. The mean score for the slightly tense posture was 15.63, while 14.21 was the mean score for the slightly relaxed posture. A t value of 3.24 was significant at the .01 level.

An independent sample t test procedure was employed to determine the statistical significance of male and female test performance in the five experimental treatments. The between-subjects analysis was conducted at the .05 level of statistical significance. Table 10 contains the test variances, means, and t values for males and females for the five instructor modeled postural positions.

Table 8 Male Test Variances, Means, and \underline{t} Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions

Treatment	N	Variance	Mean	<u>t</u> Value	
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	24	4.853	15.38	0.45	
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	24	7.810	15.63		
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	24	4.853	15.38	0.47	
Slightly Tense X ₃	24	6.419	15.63		
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	24	4.853	15.38	1.74	
Extremely Tense X ₄	24	4.419	14.38		
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	24	4.853	15.38	2.06	
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	24	5.911	14.21		
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	24	7.810	15.63	0.0	
Slightly Tense X ₃	24	6.419	15.63		
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	24	7.810	15.38	2.41*	
Extremely Tense X ₄	24	4.419	14.38		
Extremely Relaxed X ₂	24	7.810	15.63	2.76*	
Slightly Relaxed X _S	24	5.911	14.21		
Slightly Tense X ₃	24	6.419	15.63	2.79**	
Extremely Tense X ₄	24	4.419	14.38		
Slightly Tense X ₃	24	6.419	15.53	3.24**	
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	24	5.911	14.21		
Extremely Tense X ₄	24	4.419	14.38	0.32	
Slightly Relaxed X ₅	24	5.911	14.21		

Table 9 Summary Matrix of t Values for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Males

	Extremely Relaxed X ₂	Slightly Tense X ₃	Extremely Tense X ₄	Slightly Relaxed ^X 5
Moderately Relaxed X ₁	0.45	0.47	1.74	2.06
Extremely Relaxed X2		0.0	2.41*	2.76*
Slightly Tense X ₃		•	2.79**	3.24**
Extremely Tense X				0.32

Test mean scores for the males were significantly superior to test mean scores for females in the extremely relaxed, slightly relaxed, extremely tense, and slightly relaxed experimental conditions. An examination of the data indicated that males achieved a mean score of 15.63 (Table 10) for the extremely relaxed presentation, while the female mean score was 13.90. The calculated t value of 2.19 was significant at the .05 level. The slightly tense treatment yielded a mean score for males of 15.63 and a mean score for females of 13.81. At the .05 level of significance, the \underline{t} value of 2.55 significantly different. The mean score for males in the extremely tense treatment was 14.38, and the mean score for females was 12.05. The obtained t value of 3.82 was significant at the .001 level. Again, the mean test score for males (14.21) was significantly higher than that of females (12.67) during the slightly relaxed treatment phase. The corresponding t value of 2.04 was significant at the .05 level.

Table 10 Test Variances, Means, and \underline{t} Values for Males and Females for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions

Male and Female Subjects	Treatment	N	Variance	Mean	<u>t</u> Value
	Moderately Relaxed				
Male	x ₁	24	4.853	15.38	1.47
Female	x ₁	21	8.891	14.24	
	Extremely Relaxed				
Male	x ₂	24	7.810	15.63	2.19*
Female	x ₂	21	5.891	13.90	
	Slightly Tense				
Male	x ₃	24	6.419	15.63	2.55*
Female	x ₃	21	4.862	13.81	,
	Extremely Tense				
Male	$\mathbf{x_4}$	24	4.419	14.38	3.82**
Female	x ₄	21	3.848	12.05	
	Slightly Relaxed				
Male	x ₅	24	5.911	14.21	2.04*
Female	x ₅	21	6.933	12.67	

The second null hypothesis was rejected. However, data analysis indicated that the mean score for females in the extremely tense condition was significantly lower than those in the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense treatment phases. The mean test score for males presented instruction in an extremely tense posture was significantly less than those obtained in the extremely relaxed and slightly tense postural presentations. Males also scored significantly lower in the slightly relaxed condition when compared with test performances during the extremely relaxed and slightly tense phases of experimental intervention. Females did not exhibit significant differences of mean test scores in the slightly relaxed condition.

Mean test scores for males reached the highest level when instruction was presented in an extremely relaxed and slightly tense posture, while females were highest in the moderately relaxed phase. Task performance of males was lowest during the slightly relaxed condition, and female achievement was most depressed when instruction was presented in the extremely tense mode. In every instance, mean test scores of males were superior to mean test scores of females, and significantly so during the extremely relaxed, slightly tense, extremely tense, and slightly relaxed postural presentations.

Discussion

An entire sophomore class from one Upper East Tennessee school was selected in order to determine the effects of teaching effectiveness of variations of instructor modeled postural positions. Each subject was exposed to instruction presented by a lecturer modeling each of five postures identified as: extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly relaxed.

moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed. The order of assignment of instructor modeled postural positions to the five lessons was random.

Immediately following the viewing of each of these videotaped lessons,

7 minutes in duration, each subject was administered a true-false test composed of 20 items. All test items were restricted to only instructional content presented in the specified videotaped lesson. Test score means were statistically analyzed utilizing the test for repeated measures and independent samples. Test scores for those not participating in all five experimental treatments were discarded from the study. Experimental mortality over the five-week session reduced the original population of 69 students to 45 upon termination of the study.

The intent of the study was to determine if instructor modeled postural positions influence instructional test scores of selected tenth-grade students. Two null hypotheses were constructed in order to determine these effects on the total intact group and on males and females. The comparisons made in analyzing the two null hypotheses resulted in a partial rejection of those hypotheses.

Findings of significant differences of test score means for the total group, due to presenting instruction from various postural positions, lend credence to the effectiveness of posture as a form of nonverbal communication. Analysis of the data for the total intact group clearly demonstrated that when compared to a moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense posture, instruction presented in an extremely tense posture was significantly less effective. Total group test scores on subject content presented in a slightly relaxed posture were significantly inferior to test scores resultant of instruction presented in the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly

tense postures.

Suggestions referred to in the review of related literature indicated that a curvilinear relationship exists between a receiver's perception of a communicator and the modeled posture. Therefore, positive or approach responses may be correlated with less extreme postures, and negative or nonreceptive responses may be correlated with the extreme postures. Total group results in this study only partially substantiated this proposition.

of particular interest was the chronological order of postural exposures. The initial significant differences occurred with combinations of the extremely tense posture (fourth treatment) and previous treatments of moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense postures. The fifth treatment, consisting of a slightly relaxed posture, revealed test scores which were significantly less than those of the first three treatment phases. Conjecture into the sequential order of postural presentation is not inappropriate in order to explain the apparent discrepancies in test performance of the slightly relaxed presentation with the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense postures. In effect, post-extremely tense postural biasing may have negatively influenced attending to a slightly relaxed postural presentation.

Organismic variables revealed differences in test scores of males and females for various degrees of postural relaxation. Test mean scores of females disclosed a significantly inferior performance to instruction presented in the extremely tense posture when contrasted with moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense postures. No significant difference was evidenced between test scores of instruction presented in an extremely tense posture and a slightly relaxed posture. Evidence of

a significant difference between the fifth treatment of a slightly relaxed posture and moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense postures was not found. Mean test scores of females were greatest in the moderately relaxed condition and lowest in the extremely tense experimental treatment phase.

Test scores of males, similar to those of females, reflected task performance for the extremely tense postural presentation as significantly poorer than in the extremely relaxed and slightly tense postures. No significant difference was observed between extremely tense and moderately relaxed postural test scores. Contrasted with test scores of females, the mean test score for males during the slightly relaxed postural instruction was significantly less than those achieved in the treatments of extremely relaxed and slightly tense posture. Test mean scores of males reached their apex in both the extremely relaxed and slightly tense conditions. The lowest mean score was recorded in the slightly relaxed postural treatment. Chronologically, the extremely tense condition preceded the slightly relaxed treatment phase.

Throughout all experimental conditions, test mean scores for males were higher than those of females in the corresponding postures. Mean test scores for males were significantly higher at the .05 level in the extremely relaxed, slightly tense, extremely tense, and slightly relaxed postural conditions.

Chapter 5

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

Nonverbal behavior and its relationship to communication has captivated the attention of social scientists in recent years. A disproportionate amount of the research into this phenomenon has been conducted by clinical psychologists. Only recently have educators attended to the possible influence of nonverbal behavior on learning in the classroom environment.

An accompanying phenomenon of nonverbal research has been the organization and specialization of nonverbal substructures, of which kinesic behavior is a component. Posture analysis, has been incorporated into kinesic research. Although there exists a great disparity in methods of investigation and subsequent interpretations derived from data, researchers do agree that kinesic behavior may be potentially communicative.

Psychoanalytic interpretations of nonverbal behavior attempted to correlate postural behavior with psychological states. Postural behavior has been manipulated to alter an individual's temperment. The interaction of verbal behavior and postural behavior was determined to be real. Evidence was provided to suggest the bodily posture may be independent of facial cues and interrelated with deception cues. More specific to this study, the extent of postural relaxation or its absence thereof was identified as a significant factor in the formulation of perceived

interpretations of nonverbal behavior. Posture has been related to both attitude and status. The preponderance of research suggested that a curvilinear relationship existed between attitude and postural degrees of relaxation, with postural extremes eliciting negative responses and slight or moderate postures eliciting more positive attitudes. Perceptions of postural behavior differed among sex as males tended to react more favorably to excessive nonverbal behavior.

Only recently have educators become involved in the investigation of nonverbal behavior relative to the classroom environment. Many educational studies were concerned with the quantity and kinds of nonverbal interactions as they occurred in the classroom, without experimental manipulation of variables. Quantative and qualitative variations of teacher communicated nonverbal behavior were related to student IQ, sex, social class, age, and race. In general, a paucity of research dealing with the effects of nonverbal behavior in the classroom was extant.

The intent of this study was to determine if instructor modeled postural positions influence instructional test scores of selected tenth-grade students.

An intact group consisting of tenth-grade students comprising the entire sophomore class was selected from one Upper East Tennessee school. As a result of experimental mortality the original group of 69 tenth-graders was reduced in number by 24, with a resultant experimental group of 45 students at the termination of the study. Subjects were randomly assigned to one of two subgroups to facilitate administration of experimental treatment. All subjects were exposed to five instructional videotaped lessons, each of which depicted an instructor modeling one of the following postures: extremely tense, slightly tense, slightly

relaxed, moderately relaxed, and extremely relaxed.

Economics was chosen as the instructional content for the series of five lessons. Videotape was selected as the medium for instructional presentation in order to achieve consistency of postural and presentational aspects. The experimenter designed and produced the lesson series for videotape transmission. Each lesson was presented by an instructor modeling one of the five postural positions. All videotaped postures incorporated into the lessons were assessed for reliability of conformance to the established postural criteria. Intratest and intertest similarity were determined in a pilot test situation.

A volunteer monitor administered the videotaped instruction to the intact group of tenth-graders. Duration of each lesson was 7 minutes. The subjects participated in one lesson each week on five successive Tuesdays. Immediately following each lesson, each subject completed a 20-item true-false test on the lesson content.

Differences between the total intact group, female, and male means of five test scores for the five experimental conditions were tested for statistical significance by the $\underline{\mathbf{r}}$ test. The .05 level of significance was adopted in all cases.

Results

Results of the data analysis indicated that total group mean scores for subjects presented instruction in the extremely tense and slightly relaxed postural positions were significantly lower than mean scores of the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense conditions.

The greatest mean test score for the total group occurred in the moderately relaxed treatment phase, while the lowest mean test score was manifest

during the extremely tense phase.

A breakdown of mean test scores by sex disclosed many significant differences within and between the male and female population. Mean test scores of females revealed that test performance during the extremely tense postural treatment was significantly lower than during the moderately relaxed, extremely relaxed, and slightly tense experimental conditions. There was no significant difference of mean test scores during the extremely tense and slightly relaxed postural treatment phases. Mean test scores of females were greatest in the moderately relaxed condition and lowest in the extremely tense experimental treatment phase.

Analysis of mean scores of males revealed significantly lower performance during the extremely tense postural presentation when compared with test scores in the extremely relaxed and slightly tense phases of treatment. No significant difference was indicated between extremely tense and moderately relaxed treatment conditions. Unlike females, males achieved a significantly lower mean test score during instructional presentation in the slightly relaxed postural position when compared with mean scores of the extremely relaxed and slightly tense postural conditions. Test means for males were largest in both the extremely relaxed and slightly tense experimental conditions, and lowest in the slightly relaxed postural phase.

Throughout all experimental conditions, mean test scores for males were higher than mean scores for females in the corresponding treatment phase. Mean test scores for males were significantly higher when presented instruction modeled by the lecturer in extremely relaxed, slightly tense, extremely tense and slightly relaxed postural positions.

Conclusions

The results of the experiment provided evidence that postures which are maintained by an instructor while presenting lesson content influence learner performance in a classroom environment. Lesson content which is presented in a manner which can be characterized as extremely tense is detremental to learner achievement. A more relaxing classroom environment may be beneficial to learning. The suggestion that the negative effects of an extremely tense postural presentation may generalize to additional learning environments is proposed. Learner bias, resultant of instruction being presented in an extremely tense manner, may negatively influence future learner achievement under conditions which are not The duration of learner bias may be differential in sexes, being more enduring with males than with females. The possibility that the sex of the instructor may have led to a differential response of males and females is proposed. Of special significance to this study is the ordering of postural presentations which could possibly affect performance of subsequent instructional presentations in differing postural modes.

Recommendations

As a result of the study it was recommended that:

- 1. additional studies be made varying the order of postural presentation to determine the effects of presentational order on performance of male and female students.
- research be engaged in to determine the influence of the sex of the instructor in modeling various postures on the performance of male and female students.
 - additional studies be made using postural relaxation concepts

with students at age levels different from those of this study.

- 4. research be conducted to determine the prolonged effects of presenting instructional material in various postural positions.
- 5. exploration be made to assess the effects of a "live" instructor modeling various postural positions on student performance in classroom situations.
- 6. research be conducted to determine the effects of various instructor modeled postures on performance of differing socioeconomic, racial, and ethnic groups.
- 7. professionals, charged with the responsibility of training teachers, be cognizant of and apply the principles of nonverbal behavior within the domain of teacher training institutions and in-service education.
- 8. the same study be replicated to determine the validity of the findings described in the present study.

REFERENCES CITED

References Cited

- The ABC's of how our economy works. <u>U.S. News & World Report</u>, May 1, 1978, pp. 41-64.
- Achilles, C. M., & French, R. L. The case for nonverbal communication:
 Some assumptions and research ideas. In C. M. Achilles & R. L.
 French (Eds.), Inside classrooms: Studies in verbal and nonverbal
 communication. Knoxville, Tennessee: Public Schools for Cooperative
 Research, 1977.
- Argyle, M. Nonverbal communication in human social interaction. In R. A. Hinde (Ed.), Nonverbal communication. London: Cambridge University Press, 1972.
- Argyle, M. Bodily communication. London: Methuen and Co., Ltd., 1975.
- Beekman, S. J. Sex differences in nonverbal behavior. Paper presented at the meeting of the American Psychological Association, Chicago, 1975.
- Beigel, H. G. The influence of body position on mental processes. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 1952, 8, 193-199.
- Birdwhistell, R. L. <u>Introduction to kinesics: An annotation system for analysis of body motion and gestures.</u> Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of State Foreign Service Institute, 1952.
- Birdwhistell, R. L. <u>Kinesics and context: Essays on body motion</u> communication. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1970.
- Blazer, J. A. Leg position and psychological characteristics in women. Psychology, 1966, 3, 5-12.
- Borgers, S. B., & Ward, R. G. <u>Communication: Nonverbal. Affective 5.0.</u>
 Houston, Texas: Houston University, 1975. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 100 939)
- Braatoy, R. F. Fundamentals of psychoanalytic technique. New York: Wiley, 1954.
- Chaiken, A. L., Sigler, E., & Derlega, V. J. Nonverbal mediators of teacher expectancy effects. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 1974, 30, 144-149.
- Cosper, W. B. An analysis of sex differences in teacher-student interaction as manifest in verbal and nonverbal behavior cues (Doctoral dissertation, University of Tennessee, 1970). <u>Dissertation Abstracts</u> International, 1974, 35, 1339A. (University Microfilm No. 74-27, 194)

- Crump, H. B. An analysis of verbal and nonverbal behavior of teachers toward adjudicated delinquents (Doctoral dissertation, University of Tennessee, 1974). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1974, <u>35</u>, 3559A. (University Microfilms No. 74-27, 194)
- Davis, F. Inside intuition: What we know about nonverbal communication. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1973.
- Davis, M. Understanding body movement: An annotated bibliography. New York: Arno Press, 1972.
- Deutsch, F. Analysis of postural behavior. <u>Psychoanalytic Quarterly</u>, 1947, 16, 195-213.
- Deutsch, F. Analytic posturology. <u>Psychoanalytic Quarterly</u>, 1952, <u>21</u>, 196-214.
- Deutsch, F., & Murphy, W. F. The clinical interview. Vol. 1, New York: International Universities Press, 1955.
- Dittman, A. T. Review of kinesics and context by R. L. Birdwhistell. Psychiatry, 1971, 34, 334-342.
- Dittman, A. T. The role of body movement in communication. In A. W. Siegman & S. Feldstein (Eds.), Nonverbal behavior and communication. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1978.
- Dittman, A. T., Parloff, M. X., & Boomer, D. S. Facial and bodily expression: A study of receptivity of emotional cues. <u>Psychiatry</u>, 1965, 28, 239-244.
- Duncan, S., Jr. Nonverbal communication. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 1969, 72, 118-137.
- Einstein, A. On the methods of theoretic physics. In A. Einstein, The world as I see it. New York: Covici and Friede, 1933.
- Ekman, P. Body position, facial expression, and verbal behavior during interviews. <u>Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology</u>, 1964, 68, 295-301.
- Ekman, P. Differential communication of effect by head and body cues. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1965, 2, 726-35.
- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. Head and body cues in the judgment of emotion: A reformulation. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 1967, 24, 711-724.
- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. Nonverbal leakage and cues of deception. Psychiatry, 1969a, 32, 88-106.
- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. The repertoire of nonverbal behavior: Categories, origins, usage, and coding. Semiotica, 1969b, 1, 49-98.

- Ekman, R., & Friesen, W. V. Detecting deception from the body or face.

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1974, 29, 288-298.
- Feldman, R. S. Nonverbal disclosures of deception and interpersonal affect. Technical report No. 343. Madison, Wisconsin: Wisconsin University, 1975. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 117 623)
- Feldman, S. S. Mannerisms of speech and gestures. New York: International Universities Press, 1959.
- Fowler, W. R. Comparative analysis of teacher verbal and nonverbal behavior in public school and adult based education classrooms (Doctoral dissertation, University of Tennessee, 1972). Dissertation Abstracts International, 1973, 33, 4042A. (University Microfilms No. 73-2445)
- Fretz, B. R. Postural movement in a couseling dyad. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1966, <u>13</u>, 335-343.
- Freud, S. Fragment of an analysis of a case of hysteria. <u>Collected</u> Papers, Vol. 3, New York: Basic Books, 1959.
- Fromm-Reichmann, F. <u>Principles of intensive psychotherapy</u>. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1950.
- Galloway, C. M. An analysis of theories and research in nonverbal communication. Washington, D.C.: ERIC Clearinghouse on Teacher Education, 1972. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 059 988)
- Gladstein, G. A. Nonverbal communication and counseling psychotherapy:

 A review. The Counseling Psychologist, 1974, 4, 34-57.
- Goffman, E. The presentation of self in everyday life. New York: Doubleday and Co., 1959.
- Goffman, E. Encounters: Two studies in the sociology of interaction. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill Co., 1961.
- Gottheil, E., Coney, J., & Paredes, A. Psychological and physical dimensions of personal space. <u>Journal of Psychology</u>, 1968, 69, 7-9.
- Harper, R. G., Weins, M., & Matarazzo, J. D. <u>Nonverbal communication:</u>
 <u>The state of the art.</u> New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1978.
- Jacobs, T. J. Posture, gesture, and movement in the analyst: Cues to interpretation and countertransference. <u>Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association</u>, 1973, 21, 77-92.
- James, W. T. A study of the expression of bodily posture. <u>Journal of General Psychology</u>, 1932, 7, 405-437.
- Jurich, A. P., & Jurich, J. A. Correlations among nonverbal expressions of anxiety. <u>Psychological Reports</u>, 1974, <u>34</u>, 199-204.

- Kachur, D., & others. <u>Improving the teacher's awareness of nonverbal</u> communication in the classroom, 1977. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 135 777)
- Katz, R. Body language: A study of unintentional communication. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Harvard University, 1964.
- Kendon, A. Review of kinesics and context: Essays on body motion by R. Birdwhistell. American Journal of Psychology, 1972, 85, 444-445.
- Knapp, M. L. Nonverbal communication in human interaction. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1972.
- Knapp, R. H. The language of postural interpretation. <u>Journal of Social Psychology</u>, 1965, 67, 371-377.
- Koch, R. The teacher and nonverbal communication. Theory Into Practice, 1971, 10, 231-242.
- Korvola, A. E. An exploratory study of teacher verbal and nonverbal communication incorporating the cognitive domain (Doctoral dissertation, University of Idaho, 1970). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1971, 31, 3418A. (University Microfilms No. 70-27210)
- LaCrosse, M. B. Nonverbal behavior and perceived counselor attractiveness and persuasiveness. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1975, <u>31</u>, 686-690.
- Ledford, B. R. The synthesis of a technique of comprehensive analysis of individual learners (Doctoral dissertation, East Tennessee State University, 1974). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1975, <u>35</u>, 4923A. (University Microfilms No. 75-5006)
- Ligons, C. M. Non-verbal communication and the affective domain. Houston, Texas: Texas Southern University, 1973. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 095 150)
- London, F. L. A comparative study of black and white observer perceptions of videotaped verbal and nonverbal behaviors of black and white (malefemale) teachers in schools for adjudicated delinquents (Doctoral dissertation, University of Tennessee, 1975). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1975, 36, 1451A. (University Microfilms No. 75-18, 970)
- Lowen, A. Physical dynamics of character structure: Body form and movement in analytic therapy. New York: Grune and Stratton, 1958.
- McGinley, H., LeFevre, R., & McGinley, P. The influence of a communicator's body position on opinion change in others. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 1975, 31, 686-690.
- McMahan, E. M. Cognitive complexity and nonverbal communication in impression formation (Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1974). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1975, <u>35</u>, 8057A. (University Microfilms No. 75-11, 846)

- Mehrabian, A. Nonverbal communication. Chicago: Aldine Publishing Co., 1972.
- Mehrabian, A. Relationship of attitude to seated posture, orientation, and distance. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 1968a, 10, 26-30.
- Mehrabian, A. Inference of attitudes from the posture, orientation, and distance of a communicator. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical</u> Psychology, 1968b, 32, 296-308.
- Mehrabian, A. Communication without words. <u>Psychology Today</u>, 1968c, <u>2</u>, 52-55.
- Mehrabian, A. Some referents and measures of nonverbal behavior. Behavior Research Methods and Instrumentation, 1969a, 1, 203-207.
- Mehrabian, A. Significance of posture and position in the communication of attitude and status relationships. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 1969b, 71, 359-372.
- Mehrabian, A. Nonverbal betrayal feelings. <u>Journal of Experimental</u>
 <u>Research in Personality</u>, 1971, 5, 64-73.
- Mehrabian, A., & Friar, J. T. Encoding of attitude by a seated communicator via posture and position cues. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 1969, 33, 330-336.
- Mehrabian, A., & Ksionzky, S. Categories of social behavior. Comparative Group Studies, 1972, 3, 425-436.
- Mehrabian, A., & Williams, M. Nonverbal concomitants of perceived and intended persuasiveness. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 1969, 13, 37-58.
- Middleman, R. R. The impact of nonverbal communications of affect on children from two different racial and socioeconomic backgrounds (Doctoral dissertation, Temple University, 1972). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1972, 33, 1522A. (University Microfilms No. 72-20200)
- Oliva, P. F. Supervision for today's schools. New York: Thomas Y. Crowell, 1976.
- Osgood, C. E. Dimensionality of the semantic space for communication via facial expressions. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 1966, 7, 1-30.
- Proverbs 6:12-13. The bible.
- Reece, M. M., & Whitman, R. N. Expressive movements, warmth and visual reinforcement. <u>Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology</u>, 1962, 64, 234-236.

- Reich, W. Character analysis (T. P. Wolfe, trans.). New York: Orgone Institute Press, 1945.
- Rosenfeld, H. M. Nonverbal reciprocation of approval: An experimental analysis. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 1967, 3, 102-111.
- Ruesch, J., & Kees, W. <u>Nonverbal communication: Notes on the visual perception of human relations</u>. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1956.
- Scheflen, A. E. The significance of posture in communication systems.

 Psychiatry, 1964, 27, 316-331.
- Scheflen, A. E., & Scheflen, A. <u>Body language and the social order:</u>
 <u>Communication as behavioral control</u>. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey:
 Prentice Hall, 1972.
- Schlosberg, H. Three dimensions of emotion. <u>Psychological Review</u>, 1954, 61, 81-88.
- Schusler, R. A. Nonverbal communication in the elementary classroom. Theory Into Practice, 1971, 10, 282-287.
- Shapiro, J. G. Variability and usefulness of facial and body cues. Comparative Group Studies, 1972, 3, 437-442.
- Shepard, R. G. An analysis of teacher-nonverbal behaviors as exhibited toward pupils representing three social classes (Doctoral dissertation, University of Tennessee, 1971). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1971, 32, 2539A. (University Microfilms No. 71-29493)
- Skinner, B. F. Science and human behavior. New York: The Free Press, 1953.
- Smith, E. W. L. Postural and gestural communication of a and b "therapist types" during dyadic interviews. <u>Journal of Consulting</u> and Clinical Psychology, 1972, 39, 29-36.
- Spiegel, J. P., & Machotka, P. Messages of the body. New York: The Free Press, 1974.
- Sterrett, J. H. Study of the relationship between nonverbal communication and perceptions of qualities associated with effectiveness in the insurance industry (Doctoral dissertation, Georgia State University, 1976). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1977, 37, 6380A-6381A. (University Microfilms No. 77-9310)
- Strong, S. R., Taylor, R. G., Bratton, J. C., & Lopez, R. G. Nonverbal behavior and perceived counselor characteristics. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1971, <u>18</u>, 554-561.
- Waxer, P. Nonverbal cues for depth of depression: Set versus no set. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 1976, 44, 493.

- Weitz, S. Nonverbal communication: Readings with commentary. New York: Oxford University Press, 1974.
- Werner, H., & Kaplan, B. Symbol formulation. New York: Wiley, 1963.
- Wiener, M., Devoe, S., Rubinow, S., & Geller, J. Nonverhal behavior and nonverbal communication. <u>Psychological</u> Review, 1972, 79, 185-214.
- Williams, F., & Sundene, B. Dimensions of recognition: Visual vs. vocal expression of emotion. <u>Audio Visual Communications Review</u>, 1965, 13, 44-52.
- Woolfolk, R. L., & Woolfolk, A. E. Effects of teacher verbal and non-verbal behaviors on student perceptions and attitudes. American Education Research Journal, 1974, 11, 297-303.
- Woolfolk, A. E. The impact of teacher nonverbal behavior upon student learning performance. 1977. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 137 238)

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX A

INFORMED CONSENT FORM

East Tennessee State University Institutional Review Board

Informed Consent Form

PRI	NCIPAL	INVE	STIGA'	ron:	Rob	ert 1	L. B	wer							→
TITI	LE OF	PROJE	CT: _	INSTI	RUCTOR	MOD	ELED	POST	URAL	POS	SITI	ONS A	ND	THEIL	<u> </u>
	NFLUEN	CE ON	INST	RUCTIO	ONAL T	est :	SCOR	ES OF	TEN	TH-0	RAD	e stu	DEN	TS	_
1)	Indic to be	ated foll	below owed a	are i	the (a c) the) pur appr	rpose	e of nate	this dura	stu tior	idy,	(b) this	th st	e pro	ocedure
	teach five prese will	ing s seven nted compl nts w	tyles -minut to the ete a	incor te les stud writt	tudy in rporat sons ; dents. ten tr lpate	ing v refle Fo: ue-fa	videc ecti: llow: alse	tape ng th ing t test	d in lese the i on	stru teac nstr the	ctic chinq cuct: less	on. g sty ion, son c	A s les the ont	eries will stud ent.	be lents
2)	Disco: expec		•	conver	nience	s and	d/or	risk	s th	at o	can l	oe re	aso	nably	<i>!</i>
			None	3											
3)	I understand the procedures to be used in this study and the possible risks involved. All my questions have been answered. I also understand that while my rights and privacy will be maintained, the Secretary of the Department of Health, Education and Welfare does have free access to any information obtained in this study should it become necessary and I freely and voluntarily choose to participate. I understand that I may withdraw at any time without prejudice to me.														
	Date					Sign	natui	e of	Vol	unte	er	<u> </u>			
	Date					Sign			Par app			Guar	dia	n	
Jan	Date	10,	1979	•		Sign	Ratu:	ed of	Inv	esti	Sp. Igato	or	_		
	Date		•			Sign	natu	e of	Wit	ness	s (1:	f app	lic	able	

APPENDIX B

INSTRUCTIONAL TELEVISION SCRIPTS

Script: Lesson 1

Visual Narration

"Instructions"

Good day students, thank you for volunteering your time to help us. You are participating in a series of instructional lessons. One lesson will be presented each week for five weeks. We are developing a series of lessons and tests. Your cooperation in assisting us is greatly appreciated. In order for us to have accurate results, it is important that you be present each week for each lesson. Immediately following each lesson you will be given a short quiz. Please leave the quizzes face down until you are instructed to turn them over.

I would like you to do as well on each quiz as possible. I would also ask you that you do not take notes during the lesson. If you would like to know your quiz scores, I will be happy to provide them after all five quizzes have been taken.

Instructor modeled moderately relaxed posture

Today we will look at the cycle that occurs in our economy. Our economy is continually changing.

Sometimes it is improving, and other times it is getting worse. Economic improvement is called

Narration

growth, and economic worsening is called decline. Historically, the growth of the economy has been lengthy and gradual, where the declines have been sharper and shorter. The results of this growth have been more jobs and better living conditions.

Before the industrial era, hard times could be traced to obvious causes such as wars, revolutions, plagues and famine. Things have become more complicated in the last 200 years. In the U.S. the establishment of national banks, and more recently the Federal Reserve System, were designed to eliminate the causes of financial panics—and they have helped. Still we have periods of ups and downs or growth and decline.

Since World War I, there have been 13 periods of growth. These periods of excessive growth have set the stage for major downturns in the economy. The most notable downturn was the Great Depression of 1929, where corrections for excessive economic growth were made at great economic costs. We have experienced a severe slump as recently as 1973.

After recovery has been made, economists begin to

Narration

project the next decline. You see, there is no sure cure for business declines.

There are five main stages which make up the modern business cycle. They are recovery, gathering speed, restraining the boom, downturn, and fighting the recession.

The recovery stage begins when the economic decline or recession ends. Businesses have many plants and machines which are not being used. It is easy to find skilled workers, because they have not been employed. Costs have been cut and inventories are at a bare minimum. Credit is easy to get. Federal taxes have probably been cut. The government has increased spending programs trying to get more money back into the economy. At this time investors are buying into the stock market and stock prices are beginning to go up.

The second stage is called "gathering speed."

During this stage business begins to expand.

Consumers, or buyers, and companies are more confident and will spend and borrow more money. They

make purchases which they could not afford to make during the recession. The companies are now getting more orders, which means that they are producing more products. In order to make more goods, they must hire more workers. Companies must also buy more raw materials. Raw materials are those ingredients which are required to make the final products. Stores or retailers find that they must have bigger inventories.

Builders are building more houses because home loans are cheaper and easier to get. Government spending is still growing from programs that were started during the downturn. There is little worry about the large amount of government spending, because people will be earning more money. This means they will be paying more taxes. Taxes are used to pay for government spending.

Facilities which remained unused during the decline are now put to use. Businesses begin to invest in new equipment and buy new plants. People no longer look back at the economic decline, but look ahead to economic growth.

Narration

Let's now move to stage three in the economic cycle. It is called "restraining the boom." A boom refers to rapid economic growth. This is where things start to go wrong. During this time, some companies can't keep up with the demand for their products. Shortages develop. Because of the shortages, items become more valuable and prices go up. The President will try to reduce the government debt and Congress tries to keep the popular spending programs.

The demand for credit grows and as it does, interest rates, which are costs for borrowing money, increase. The Federal government is caught in the bind of encouraging economic growth, but trying to make sure the economy does not grow too fast. The Federal Reserve System tries to hold credit back in an effort to prevent a runaway boom. This results in higher interest rates.

As interest rates increase, money is pulled out of the mortgage market. Now speculative builders find it increasingly more difficult to sell houses. This situation leaves many of the houses unsold.

Consumers are beginning to spend less rapidly, and this leaves merchants with more goods than they can sell. Because of this situation merchants order less goods from the producers.

This leads us into the fourth stage of the economic cycle which is called the "downturn."

Because merchants order less, producers are forced to reduce production and lay off employees. These layed off workers must tighten their budget and spend less money, because they have no income.

New capital investments of producers become less attractive. As consumer demand falters, production decreases and unemployment spreads. More people suffer a drop in income. Investors lose confidence and demand shrinks further. A recession or economic decline is underway.

Fighting the recession, which is the fifth stage in the economic cycle, begins. Businesses who have accumulated large and excessive inventories begin to reduce them. Costs are cutback and debts are paid off. During this stage, it is not unusual for many companies to go bankrupt. More

cooperation between the White House and Congress is seen as they try to increase demand and make money more plentiful. Here lies the controversy concerning government involvement in the economy. Many experts say that the government must correct the situation, while others say that the government should not interfere with business. Some say that government regulation of the economy has

Narration

As of yet no one has found a way to keep the economy of going through these stages of growth and decline.

caused more problems than it has solved.

"Instructions"

You will have 15 minutes to complete the quiz.

You will not be permitted to ask the monitor any questions concerning the quiz. When you have completed the quiz, write the time which is shown on the clock located beside the television. A space is provided for time below your name. After writing the time on the quiz sheet, give the quiz to the monitor and return to your classroom.

The grade you make on this quiz will in no way affect your grades at this school. However, I

would like you to do your best. At this time turn your quiz over and print your first and last name in the space provided at the top of your paper.

You may now begin.

Script: Lesson 2

Visual Narration

"Instructions"

Good day students, thank you for volunteering your time to help us. You are participating in a series of instructional lessons. One lesson will be presented each week for five weeks. We are developing a series of lessons and tests. Your cooperation in assisting us is greatly appreciated. In order for us to have accurate results, it is important that you be present each week for each lesson. Immediately following each lesson you will be given a short quiz. Please leave the quizzes face down until you are instructed to turn them over.

I would like you to do as well on each quiz as possible. I would also ask you that you do not take notes during the lesson. If you would like to know your quiz scores, I will be happy to provide them after all five quizzes have been taken.

Instructor modeled extremely relaxed posture

Today we are going to talk about business corporations and how they fit into the economy. Generations ago, a family could produce most of the food, equipment, and clothing that they needed. This is

specialized role in the network of producers and consumers. Business bring together raw materials, workers, machinery, and money to make a product or sell a service. Presently, there are about 14 million American firms making all kinds of products and providing many services. A business enterprise can be as simple as one person or as complex as a giant corporation. If these businesses want to succeed, they must provide goods or services that consumers want, at prices they will pay, and product them efficiently enough to make a product.

A business begins with an entrepreneur. An entrepreneur is a person who sees a need, figures a way to meet it, and is willing to take a risk to make money. The business can be in with the development or invention of a new product. Or it can be a matter of seeing new ways to combine existing products and methods. This second way is similar to the Henry Ford story. Henry Ford did not invent the car, but he developed the assembly line method of production in order to produce more and cheaper cars.

Narration

The reason for developing business is profit. A profit is the motivating factor which causes people to take an investment risk. There are two ways for determining profit. The first method of determining profit is called profit margin. Profit margin refers to the amount the business clears on each dollar of sales. The second method of determining profit is called return on investment.

Return on investment relates the profit to the amount of money that is invested in the business.

In our society, the large corporation dominates the business side of our economy. About 54 percent of all sales and three-fourths of all products are accounted for by 500 of America's largest companies. The largest of these in terms of sales is General Motors.

The corporation is preferred by investors when dealing in large amounts of money. There is a very good reason for this. The law says that if a corporation goes bankrupt, the owners may lose all their money invested, but they cannot be made to pay any unpaid debts. A corporation's ownership

Narration

is divided into shares of stock that are sold to investors. Investors buy stock in hopes of receiving profit that the corporation will make. This profit is paid to stock shareholders in the form called dividends. Shareholders hope to make money in another way, that is the value of each share of stock will increase beyond the price they paid.

When investors purchase shares of a corporation's stock, the business gets this money. The company uses the money received from the sale of stock for buying new plants and equipment, and paying off loans and bills. As along as the company makes profits on their products or services, investors will purchase stock.

Competition among companies determines the kinds and prices of marketed products. Even in large corporations like Ford Motor or IBM, competition causes them to cut prices, develop new and improved products and stage sales to keep their share of the market.

At times companies have made agreements in order to reduce competition. This led to fixing prices at a high level and driving out newer and weaker competitors. Federal antitrust laws have been passed to prevent these kinds of unfair practices. The old Standard Oil Company was broken up to end its monopoly over the oil industry. Monopoly refers to a business which has control over a particular product or service.

Today the average American family buys more goods and services than ever before. This is because the productivity of the American worker has increased over the years. The number of goods or services produced by the worker in an hour on the job has gone up at a rate of almost 3 percent a year over the long run. There are several reasons for the increase in productivity. First, workers are more educated today. Another reason is that inventions have led to more efficient methods of production. Each year new ideas are put into action in businesses all over America. Thirdly, sometimes new and cheaper resources of raw materials are found and used.

Narration

In order to get these new ideas put into use large amounts of money must be available to the company. How does the corporation get the money needed? We've already mentioned one method and that is people buying stocks directly. Investors can buy stocks knowingly through a stockbroker. Other times people are involved in stocks without really knowing it. Premiums which we pay when we buy life insurance are invested by the life insurance company into corporate stocks. Money which is set aside for worker pension plans is also invested in stock.

Today there is a growing gap between ownership and control of corporations. Corporations have become so large that no one owns more than a small fraction of it. Therefore, the investors who own just a few shares of stock have little voting control over the corporation when it comes to electing boards of directors or influencing policy. This means that management usually controls the company. If management can control from 20 to 30 percent of the shares, it will usually be able to do what it wants.

Narration

The board of directors is the group which determines the policies of a corporation. The power of individual shareholders to change management, if it is going a poor job, is not very great. thing they can do is to sell their stock in the company, but if the company is not doing a good job the investor may take a loss. Another way out is called the "takeover offer." Some other company may want to buy the business for its own use. If this happens, a very good offer will be made to the stockholder for selling his stock and the owner of the stock stands to make a large profit. This has happened many times in recent years, and it has caused many corporations to "clean house" and make sure that they look after the stockholder's interests.

"Instructions"

You will have 15 minutes to complete the quiz. You will not be permitted to ask the monitor any questions concerning the quiz. When you have completed the quiz, write the time which is shown on the clock located beside the television. A space is provided for time below your name. After writing the time on the quiz sheet, give the quiz to the monitor and return to your classroom.

The grade you make on this quiz will in no way affect your grades at this school. However, I would like you to do your best. At this time turn your quiz over and print your first and last name in the space provided at the top of your paper. You may now begin.

Script: Lesson 3

Visual

Narration

"Instructions"

Good day students, thank you for volunteering your time to help us. You are participating in a series of instructional lessons. One lesson will be presented each week for five weeks. We are developing a series of lessons and tests. Your cooperation in assisting us is greatly appreciated. In order for us to have accurate results, it is

lesson.

them over.

I would like you to do as well on each quiz as possible. I would also ask you that you do not take notes during the lesson. If you would like to know your quiz scores, I will be happy to provide them after all five quizzes have been taken.

important that you be present each week for each

will be given a short quiz. Please leave the

quizzes face down until you are instructed to turn

Immediately following each lesson you

Instructor modeled slightly tense posture

Today we are going to talk about money--what it is and where it comes from. Money is anything that performs these three functions:

1. It is generally acceptable in exchange for goods and services.

Narration

- It is the yardstick by which the value of other things are measured.
- It is a convenient form for saving purchasing power.

Money may take on many forms. Beads, furs, and tobacco have been used as money in the past. Gold and silver have commonly served as money because of their scarcity and durability. Today money mainly consists of currency, coins, and checking accounts. Checkbook money makes up three-fourths of the active money supply. At the beginning of 1978 there was about 335 billion dollars in U.S. money, with over 247 billion in checkbook money. The money supply continues to grow as the economy grows. Where does this money come from? According to our Constitution, the federal government has the sole authority to mint coins and to determine their value. The Federal Reserve System was set up by Congress to create a flexible money supply. This was done to end financial panics which were caused by money supply shortages.

The Federal Reserve System determines the amount of money created. These decisions are based on trends

Narration

in industrial production, employment, inflation, trade, and the money supply. There are many steps which are involved in the process of creating money. Many banks belong to the Federal Reserve System. These banks must keep deposits at the Federal Reserve Banks. Right now, banks belonging to the Federal Reserve System must deposit 15 percent of the new funds in a district Federal Reserve Banks. There are 12 Federal Reserve Banks in the United States.

If the Federal Reserve decides to expand the money supply, it sends instructions to the open market desk at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The New York Federal Reserve Bank buys \$100 million in Treasury bills from a securities dealer and pays with a check. The dealer deposits the check into bank A. \$100 million have been added to the supply. Bank A puts 15 percent or \$15 million into reserve (remember, a bank which belong to the Federal Reserve System must deposit 15 percent of new funds into the Federal Reserve Bank). After the \$15 million has been put into reserve, it loans the remaining \$85 million. Again 15 percent of the \$85

Narration

million must be put in reserve and the remainder is again loaned creating still more money. By the time the process is complete (when all \$100 million has been deposited in reserve) \$600 million has been added to the supply.

The production of coins and bills is carried out at specified locations. Coins are produced by U.S. mints in Philadelphia, Denver, and San Francisco. Bills are printed by the Bureau of Engraving in Washington.

Interest rates also affect the money supply.

Interest rates are prices charged by lenders to those who borrow money. The Federal Reserve

System influences interest rates which you would pay for a loan. This is done by changing the discount rate. The discount rate is the interest that commercial banks must pay to borrow from the Federal Reserve System. If interest rates are high it may become less attractive for commercial banks to borrow. In turn this influences the ability of the bank to add to its deposits and make loans. Interest rates have risen drastically

Narration

during the 1970's. This is because of inflation. In order to make the same percentage of loans in real terms, the bank must increase the cost for borrowed money.

The dollar does not have real backing (like gold or silver). Before 1971, foreign held dollars could be exchanged for gold. The result was a steady decrease in the gold supply, as foreign countries exchanged their dollars for gold. The dollar can no longer be exchanged for gold by foreign countries. American citizens lost the exchange right long before.

The dollar value around the world largely depends on the extent to which people are willing to accept it in exchange for goods and services. Recently, the value of the dollar has steadily declined throughout the world. While the value of the dollar has declined, the price of gold continues to increase. Many countries would much rather own gold than currency, including U.S. dollars. In an emergency, no matter what happens to the value of any currency, gold will still be valuable. The

Narration

U.S.'s policy is to reduce the importance of gold in the world's monetary system. Although the dollar is not backed by gold, it is backed by the assets of the Reserve System. The real backing is the taxing authority of the federal government. The government can increase the flow or decrease the flow of money coming into the treasury by increasing taxes.

The job of the Federal Reserve System is to manage the monetary system. This is easier said than done. The Reserve System must be sure to maintain a delicate balance of money supply. If it does not create enough money, it becomes difficult and expensive to borrow money. Consumer and industrial spending and investing are reduced. If reductions become too great, the economy will go into a recession. On the other hand, if the money supply increases too quickly, borrowing becomes easier. People will bid for more goods and services than industry can supply. Shortages occur and prices increase. Economists call it "too much money chasing too few goods." We call it inflation.

Narration

Some economists have blamed the Federal Reserve for causing inflation and recession with their manipulating of the money supply. As a result, these economists say that the government should keep the money supply growing at a steady rate and not keep shifting between tight and easy money policies.

"Instructions"

You will have 15 minutes to complete the quiz.

You will not be permitted to ask the monitor any questions concerning the quiz. When you have completed the quiz, write the time which is shown on the clock located beside the television. A space is provided for time below your name. After writing the time on the quiz sheet, give the quiz to the monitor and return to your classroom.

The grade you make on this quiz will in no way affect your grades at this school. However, I would like you to do your best. At this time turn your quiz over and print your first and last name in the space provided at the top of your paper.

You may now begin.

Script: Lesson 4

Visual Narration

"Instructions" Good day students, thank you for volunteering your time to help us. You are participating in a series of instructional lessons. One lesson will be presented each week for five weeks. We are

In order for us to have accurate results, it is important that you be present each week for each lesson. Immediately following each lesson you will be given a short quiz. Please leave the quizzes face down until you are instructed to turn them over.

developing a series of lessons and tests. Your

cooperation in assisting us is greatly appreciated.

I would like you to do as well on each quiz as possible. I would also ask you that you do not take notes during the lesson. If you would like to know your quiz scores, I will be happy to provide them after all five quizzes have been taken.

Instructor modeled extremely tense posture

Today we will look at the stock market and see how it effects the economy. The stock market is very important to the economy as it tells us how business is faring. It serves as a gauge of the

Narration

nation's economic health. Not only does the stock market reflect the ups and downs of business, but it also influences how well or poorly business will do.

One reason the stock market is so important, is that it represents a huge amount of wealth. Over 25 million people and institutions invest in the stock market. Institutions such as pension funds, insurance companies, and bank trust departments hold stock for many more millions of people.

The New York Stock Exchange lists 26.2 billion shares of stock for trading. If each share of stock would increase just \$1, investors would be richer by 26.2 billion dollars.

Even people who do not own stocks look at the stock market to see how business is doing. If the stock market is increasing, they feel more confident and may spend more money. When the market is declining, the public becomes cautious and will not spend.

There is another effect of the stock market's influence. If a company's stock is rising, it is more likely to issue more shares to raise money for expansion and modernization of plants. This will increase business and the number of jobs in the economy.

What determines the price at which a stock will sell? First of all, we need to look at the reason people buy stock. It is very simple. People buy stock to make a profit. The typical buyer of stock looks for two types of profit. One type of profit an individual can receive is called a dividend. This is a fraction of the corporation's profit that is paid to all stockholders for each share of stock they own.

Secondly, the investor hopes to make a profit by selling his stock at a higher price than he paid for it.

When we buy stock in hopes of selling it at a higher price, we are saying that we have faith that the company will make even more profits than it did in the past. An indication of the strength

earnings ratio. By looking at the price-earnings ratio we can in part determine the potential price of the stock. The price-earnings ratio is determined by dividing the market price of the stock by the earnings per share for the previous twelve months. As an example, a stock selling at twenty dollars and earning two dollars per share has a price-earnings ratio of 10. If the ratio is too high, the stock may be overvalued. If the ratio is lower, it may indicate that the stock is underpriced and would make a good investment. In terms of price-earnings ratio, stocks are now cheaper than they have been since World War II.

Narration

Almost any unexpected event which may change the business outlook will cause the price of stock to change. If corporate earnings were expected to go up and they go down, or if a new product turns out to be a dud, the price of that stock will go down. On the other hand, if profits unexpectedly go up or if a major invention has been announced, the price of the stock will go up. The Securities

and Exchange Commission polices the stock market to make sure that companies do not lie in their reports or to prevent other illegal or unfair practices.

Narration

How do you go about buying stock? First, you go to a local broker and place an order. You must tell him how many shares to buy, what stock to buy, and at what price to pay for the stock. The local broker phones the order through the main office to the brokerage's member on the floor of the exchange. The exchange is a common location where stocks are bought and sold. He must find someone who is selling the stock and agree on the price. In order for stock to exchange hands there must be a buyer and a seller. If there are more people who want to buy than sell, the stock price will go up. The reverse happens if there are more sellers than buyers, and the price will go down. When a deal is made, the buyer has five days to pay for the stock, and the seller has five days to deliver the stock to the broker. The transaction is then completed.

Not everyone makes money in the stock market. In fact there are more people who lose money than make money in the market. In order for someone to make a profit on stock, someone else has to take a loss.

What makes investing even more difficult is that many things influence the price of stock that the company has no control over. Broad economic trends influence the market. If the economy as a whole is going poorly, the stock of a company may fall—even if it is making a good profit. When the economic outlook is uncertain, investors hold back from buying stocks.

Most money that corporations get from investors comes through borrowing. This borrowing is done by selling bonds. A bond is a note to repay a loan with interest within a specified period of time. The price of bonds is affected most by interest rates. As interest rates increase, investors are more attracted to buying bonds.

Individual investors can buy bonds, but the majority of bonds are purchased by large pension

Narration

funds, banks and insurance firms. There is a very good reason for this. Most bonds are sold in denominations of \$1,000. Few individual investors have large amounts of money to invest. The average price of stock on the New York Stock Exchange is \$29. There are more people who can afford this smaller kind of investment. Bonds are an attractive investment because they are a safe investment. A corporation must pay interest and principle due on bonds before it can pay dividends on its stock. If the corporation goes broke, bond-holders are among the first to be paid,—stockholders are among the last. If there is no money left, stockholders are not paid and they lose their investment.

"Instructions"

You will have 15 minutes to complete the quiz.

You will not be permitted to ask the monitor any questions concerning the quiz. When you have completed the quiz, write the time which is shown on the clock located beside the television. A space is provided for time below your name. After writing the time on the quiz sheet, give the quiz to the monitor and return to your classroom.

The grade you make on this quiz will in no way affect your grades at this school. However, I would like you to do your best. At this time turn your quiz over and print your first and last name in the space provided at the top of your paper. You may now begin.

Script: Lesson 5

Visual Narration

"Instructions"

Good day students, thank you for volunteering your time to help us. You are participating in a series of instructional lessons. One lesson will he presented each week for five weeks. We are developing a series of lessons and tests. Your cooperation in assisting us is greatly appreciated. In order for us to have accurate results, it is important that you be present each week for each lesson. Immediately following each lesson you will be given a short quiz. Please leave the quizzes face down until you are instructed to turn them over.

I would like you to do as well on each quiz as possible. I would also ask you that you do not take notes during the lesson. If you would like to know your quiz scores, I will be happy to provide them after all five quizzes have been taken.

Instructor modeled slightly relaxed posture

Today we are going to look at the role of labor unions and how they effect the economy. Nearly one out of every four workers belongs to a union. In recent years the rate of workers belonging to

unions has decreased from 26.3 percent to 23.72 percent. Still the unions continue to have a major impact on the U.S. economy.

In fact, when unionized workers sign a contract with a company, identical benefits are given to the nonunion workers. Some economists estimate that the pay of as many as 20 million nonunion workers is tied directly to union wage levels.

Income of still more workers is affected by union contracts. Sometimes a nonunion company often raises the wages its workers in line with union wages. This is done to keep the workers from wanting to join a union.

The main role of organized labor is collective bargaining. Collective bargaining is a process where workers, through a union, negotiate with employers about wages and working conditions. At the latest count, 194,726 agreements were in force between managements and unions. Bargaining can be conducted with individual companies, individual plants, or throughout an industry on a regional or national basis. The coal and steel industry

Narration

negotiates as a whole. But usually bargaining is done with a single company.

Union leaders are elected by the union membership. The leader will remain in that position only as long as the membership is satisfied with the job he is doing. If he is doing a poor job, chances are he will not remain as leader. Members have the right to decide whether an agreement is satisfactory or not. This is done by a democratic vote. If they decide not to ratify the contract, more negotiations will be necessary until an agreement is accepted by the union membership.

The ultimate weapon of the union is the strike. A strike is a work stoppage. Negotiations is a cat-and-mouse game. If the union is weak, management bargains from a position of strength. The union will take what it can get. Even when the union is strong and most workers belong, the union is limited. For example a strike may occur in one plant of which the company has thirty strikers. If this happens, production can be increased at the other plants to make up for the strike in the single plant.

Ironically, the union leader can be too successful in bargaining. This happened in the construction industry in the early 1970s. Wages and working conditions were so expensive that nonunion building firms became cheaper. Because the non-union building firms could build the same structure for less, they received more construction contracts. Craftsmen belonging to unions became unemployed. After this happened, unions began agreeing to much smaller pay raises.

In the past, labor contracts were primarily concerned with increasing hourly or weekly wages. This is no longer the case. Fringe benefits have become a major concern. In fact, fringe benefits amount to about one-third of the wages in the private sector. During the last ten years, fringes increased about twice as much as total pay. This has made the contract negotiating process more difficult.

When agreements cannot be reached a strike usually occurs. Strikes can sometimes be good for the employer and the union. The strike will force

Narration

each side (union and management) to consider the issues. As a strike continues both sides may reconsider and become a little more agreeable.

This may help both sides to agree on the contract.

Do workers really gain from collective bargaining agreements? Figures show that normally, union workers receive higher wages than nonunion workers. But the union worker is also more likely to become unemployed longer than the nonunion worker.

Unions have been criticized for causing inflation.

Inflation is the continual rise in prices. This criticism is particularly strong in the coal and steel unions where contracts are negotiated on an industry wide basis. Sometimes, union work rules protect jobs—this is especially true in the rail—roads. Management claims these rules keep workers on the job when there is no longer need for them, which in turn lowers productivity and increases prices. Another strong criticism of unions has been the corruption of the union leadership. Some union leaders use gangster tactics and terrorize employers and even their own employees during the period of

contract negotiation. Other union leaders have been investigated for stealing millions of dollars from the union pension fund—which is paid for by union members. Some leaders have also increased their own salaries tremendously. For these reasons, unions like corporations have come under federal regulation.

Many economists say that unions are not the major source of inflation in the U.S. today. During the 1950s and early 1960s, inflation was small. At that time unions accounted for a larger part of the labor force, and they were more militant. These economists say that the government's management of the budget and money supply is the chief cause of inflation. The government plays an influential role in collective bargaining. National Labor Relations Act of 1935 is the cornerstructure on which the unions rest. Workers have the right to organize. Employers must also bargain in good faith. Limits have been placed on companies in regard to what they can do to discourage union membership. Limits have also been placed on the powers of union officials.

Narration

The AFL-CIO is a national federation of over 114 trade unions. The largest union is the Teamsters. The AFL-CIO's major role is to foster a healthy political climate for unions. It favors federal spending and job training programs that will lower unemployment. It is currently pushing for a national health insurance. This would mean the unions could quit bargaining for these fringe benefits and concentrate on other gains.

"Instructions"

You will have 15 minutes to complete the quiz.

You will not be permitted to ask the monitor any questions concerning the quiz. When you have completed the quiz, write the time which is shown on the clock located beside the television. A space is provided for time below your name. After writing the time on the quiz sheet, give the quiz to the monitor and return to your classroom.

The grade you make on this quiz will in no way affect your grades at this school. However, I would like you to do your best. At this time turn your quiz over and print your first and last name in the space provided at the top of your paper. You may now begin.

APPENDIX C

TEST ITEMS

Name:	•	Time:
	last first	-
Direction	ons: Label true statements with a "T" a "F"	' and false statements with
	Test 1	
1.	It is difficult to find skilled wor phase of the economy.	kers during the recovery
2.	During the stage that the recession tend to reduce their inventories.	i is being fought, businesses
3.	When the downturn phase of the cycl more interested in making new inves more.	
4.	. Credit is hard to get during the re	ecovery stage of the cycle.
5.	Top economists have designed a syst business declines.	em which has eliminated
6.	. The recovery stage begins when the	recession has ended.
7.	When the economy is gathering speed their inventories.	l, stores usually reduce
8.	. As the demand for credit grows, int	terest rates decrease.
^{9.}	Since World War I, the U.S. has expof growth.	perienced more than 10 periods
10.	As the economy gather speed, people the decline rather than to look ahe	
11.	As the economy begins to gather spenore money than before.	eed, consumers tend to borrow
12.	Americans will pay more federal tax spending as the economy is in the g	- · ·
13.	When the boom is being restrained, than they can sell.	merchants have more goods
14.	When the economy is gathering speed	l, product shortages develop.
15.	Historically, business declines have gradual than growth stages.	ve been shorter and more
16.	The purpose of the Federal Reserve panics.	System was to reduce financial
17.	The President will try to reduce go will try to keep spending programs boom phase.	-
18.	Our economy continually changes fro	om periods of growth to decline.
19.	. We call those materials used by man products "consumed materials."	nufacturers to make final
20.	. Wars were listed as a cause of hard	i times before the industrial

era.

Name:	Time:
	last first
Direction	s: Label true statements with a "T" and false statements with a "F"
	Test 2
1.	When a corporation goes bankrupt, individual owners cannot be made to pay unpaid debts.
2.	During the "takeover offer" the stock owner stands to lose most of his investment.
3.	The board of directors is the group which determines the policies of a corporation.
4.	The profit which the corporation pays to its stockholders is called "sharing interest."
5.	Although many large corporations exist in the U.S., most of the business is conducted by the smaller local businesses.
6.	In terms of sales, General Motors is the largest corporation in the U.S.
7.	American businesses do not and have not made secret agreements in order to reduce competition.
8.	Individual investors have little voting control when it comes to electing boards of directors.
<u> </u>	Return on investment relates the amount of profit to the amount of money that is invested.
10.	Even with the advantages of technology, the average productivity of today's worker has decreased.
11.	One way a company can get money is to sell stock.
12.	The Standard Oil Company once had a monopoly on the oil industry until the federal government broke it up.
13.	Management can usually get its way if it controls as little as 20% to 30% of the votes.
14.	It is illegal to invest funds, which have been set aside for pension plans, into the stock market.
15.	A business begins with an entrepreneur who takes a risk to make money.
16.	Profit margin refers to the total annual profits on each individual item sold.
17.	Today there is a growing gap between ownership and control of corporations.
18.	A business enterprise must be comprised of at least two people.
19.	Competition affects the prices and products of smaller companies but it does not affect a company as large as IBM or Kodak.
20.	Henry Ford invented the car and then developed the assembly line in order to produce more and cheaper cars.

Name:	Time:
	last first
Direction	s: Label true statements with a "T" and false statements with a "F" $$
	Test 3
1.	There are 12 Federal Reserve Banks in the U.S.
2.	Many economists say that the Federal Reserve should not manipulate the money system, but instead let it grow at a steady rate.
3.	When the money supply becomes tight, people will bid for more goods and services than industry can supply.
4.	About \$300 million will actually be added to the money supply when the Federal Reserve adds an initial \$100 million.
5.	Decisions made by the Federal Reserve concerning the amount of money created are based on industrial production.
6.	Banks belonging to the Federal Reserve System must deposit at least 20% of new funds in a Federal Reserve Bank.
7.	The discount rate is the rate that a borrower must pay a commercial bank for borrowed money.
8.	Gold is the real backing for the U.S. dollar.
9.	The Federal Reserve System determines the amount of money created.
10.	The dollar does not have real backing.
11.	Coins are produced at U.S. mints in Philadelphia, Denver, and San Francisco.
12.	Interest rates have risen drastically during the 1970s in the U.S.
13.	It becomes difficult to borrow money when the money supply is low.
14.	Foreign countries who hold U.S. dollars can exchange the dollars for gold.
15.	Money can take on many forms.
16.	Even though the economy grows, the money supply is kept the same.
17.	Countries would rather hold gold than currencies.
18.	Currency is a convenient form for saving purchasing power.
19.	The Federal Reserve does not try to influence the interest rates which you would pay for a loan.
20.	Checkbook money makes up approximately one fourth of the active money system.

Name:	, Time:
-	last first
Directio	ns: Label true statements with a "T" and false statements with a "F"
	Test 4
1.	In terms of price-earnings ratio, stocks are slightly more expensive than they have been since World War II.
2.	If the corporation goes broke, stockholders are among the first to be paid.
^{3.}	Unlike stocks, the majority of bonds are purchased by the individual investor.
<u> </u>	Almost any unexpected event which may change business outlook will cause the price of stock to change.
5.	The price-earnings ratio is determined by dividing the market price of the stock by the earnings per share for the past 12 months.
6.	If the ratio is high, the stock may be overvalued, if it is low, it may be undervalued.
7.	The "exchange" is a common location where stocks are bought and sold.
8.	Most of the corporation's borrowing is done by selling stock.
9.	When we buy stock in hopes of selling it at a profit, we have faith that the corporation will make more profits than in the past.
10.	The buyer has 10 days to pay for the stock, and the seller has 10 days to deliver the stock.
11.	The New York Exchange Commission polices the stock market to make sure corporations do not use illegal or unfair practices.
12.	If there are more buyers than sellers, the price of the stock will go up.
13.	As interest rates increase, bonds become a more attractive buy.
14.	The reason people invest in the stock market is that there are more investors who make money than lose money.
15.	There are about 15 million people and institutions who invest in the stock market.
16.	The fact that a company may issue more shares of stock does not affect the actual number of jobs in the economy.
17.	When the general economy is doing poorly, the price of stock will go down even if the corporation is making a good profit.
18.	The stock market does reflect the ups and downs of the economy, but it has little influence on how business will do in the future.

- 19. When ordering stock from a broker, all you really need to tell him is: how many shares to buy, what stock to buy, and the price to pay.
- 20. The New York Stock Exchange lists over 25 billion shares of stock for trading.

Name:		, Time:
	last	first
Direct	ions: Label tru a "F"	e statements with a "T" and false statements with
		Test 5
	1. Union leader	s can be too successful in bargaining a contract.
	2. The largest	union in the U.S. is the Teamsters.
	 According to bargain in g 	federal law, employers may not be required to ood faith.
		always tried to get contracts with the largest ossible for their members.
		eaders negotiate a contract agreement, it becomes the membership.
	6. The ultimate	weapon of the union is the strike.
	 Normally, nor workers. 	nunion workers receive higher wages than union
	Many economia inflation.	sts say that unions are not the major cause of
		an be done with individual companies or on an r nationwide basis.
1	O. Coal and ste- companies or	el unions usually negotiate contracts with individual plants.
1		size fringe benefits more than pay raises when 'new contracts.
1	The nonunion than the uni	worker is likely to become unemployed more often on worker.
1	3. Unions are 1	ess militant today than they were in the 1960s.
1		nion rules, there are fewer jobs in the railroad n there were in the 1950s.
1	 In recent yearners increased drawn 	ars, the rate of workers belonging to unions has amatically.
1	6. Collective b	argaining is the secondary role of organized labor.
1	7. Unions and c	orporations are both under federal regulation.
1	8. Nearly 1 out	of every 4 workers belongs to a union today.
1	9. A strike can	be good for both an employer and a union.
2	O. Nonunion wor union contra	kers of a company seldom receive benefits from a

APPENDIX D

CONTENT VALIDITY OF TEST ITEMS

Content Validity of Test Items: Lesson 1

	Test Item	Script Narration
1.	It is difficult to find skilled workers during the recovery phase of the economy.	It is easy to find skilled workers, because they have not been employed.
2.	During the stage that the recession is being fought, businesses tend to reduce their inventories.	Businesses who have accumulated large and excessive inventories begin to reduce them.
3.	When the downturn phase of the cycle begins, producers become more interested in making new capital investments in order to produce more.	New capital investments of producers become less attractive.
4.	Credit it hard to get during the recovery stage of the cycle.	Credit it easy to get.
5.	Top economists have designed a system which has eliminated business declines.	After recovery has been made, economists begin to project the next decline. You see, there is no sure cure for business declines.
6.	The recovery stage begins when the recession has ended.	The recovery stage begins when the economic decline or recession ends.
7.	When the economy is gathering speed, stores usually reduce their inventories.	Stores and retailers find that they must have bigger inventories.
8.	As the demand for credit grows, interest rates decrease.	The demand for credit grows and as it does interest rates which, are costs for borrowing money, increase.
9.	Since World War I, the U.S. has experienced more than 10 periods of growth.	Since World War I, there have been 13 periods of growth.

	Test Item	Script Narration
10.	As the economy gathers speed, people still tend to look back at the decline rather than look ahead to future growth.	People no longer look back at the economic decline, but look ahead to economic growth.
11.	As the economy begins to gather speed, consumers tend to borrow more money than before.	Consumers, or buyers, and companies are more confident and will spend and borrow more money.
12.	Americans will pay more federal taxes to pay for more government spending as the economy is gathering speed.	There is little worry about the large amount of government spending, because people will be earning more money. This means they will be paying more taxes. Taxes are used to pay for government spending.
13.	When the boom is being restrained, merchants have more goods than they can sell.	Consumers are beginning to spend less rapidly, and this leaves merchants with more goods than they can sell.
14.	When the economy is gathering speed, product shortages develop.	During this time, some companies can't keep up with the demand for their products. Shortages develop.
15.	Historically, business declines have been shorter but more gradual than growth stages.	Historically, the economic growth of the economy has been lengthy and gradual, where the declines have been sharper and shorter.
16.	The purpose of the Federal Reserve System was to reduce financial panics.	In the U.S. the establishment of national banks and more recently, the Federal Reserve System were designed to eliminate the causes of financial panic—and they have helped.

17. The President will try to reduce government debt, and Congress will try to keep spending programs during the restraining the boom spending programs. The President will try to reduce the government debt, and Congress tries to keep the popular spending programs.

18. Our economy continually changes from periods of growth to decline.

phase.

Test Item

- 19. We call those materials used by manufacturers to make final products "consummed materials."
- 20. Wars were listed as a cause of hard times before the industrial era.

Our economy is continually changing. Sometimes it is improving and other times it is getting worse. Improvement is called growth, and economic worsening is called decline.

Script Narration

Raw materials are those ingredients which are required to make the final products.

Before the industrial era, hard times could be traced to obvious causes such as wars, revolutions, plagues, and famine.

Test Item Script Narration 1. When a corporation goes bankrupt, individual The law says that if a corporation goes bankrupt, the owners may lose all their money invested, but owners cannot be made to pay unpaid debts. they cannot be made to pay any unpaid debts. 2. During the "takeover offer," the stock owner If this happens, a very good offer will be made to stands to lose most of his investment. the stockholder for selling his stock, and the owner of the stock stands to make a large profit. 3. The board of directors is the group which The board of directors is the group which deterdetermines the policies of a corporation. mines the policies for a corporation. 4. The profit which the corporation pays to its The profit is paid to stock shareholders in the stockholders is called "sharing interest." form called dividends. In our society, the large corporation dominates 5. Although many large corporations exist in the U.S., most of the business is conducted by the business side of our economy. About 54 percent of all sales and three-fourths of all products are the smaller local businesses. accounted for by 500 of America's largest companies. 6. In terms of sales, General Motors is the The largest of these in terms of sales is General largest corporation in the U.S. Motors. American businesses do not and have not made At times companies have made agreements in order secret agreements in order to reduce to reduce competition. competition. Therefore, the investors who own just a few shares 8. Individual investors have little voting of stock have little voting control over the control when it comes to electing boards of

directors.

corporation when it comes to electing board of

directors or influencing policy.

	Test Item	Script Narration	
9.	Return on investment relates the amount of profit to the amount of money that is invested.	Return on investment relates the profit to the amount of money that is invested in the business.	
10.	Even with the advantages of technology, the average productivity of today's worker has decreased.	This is because the productivity of the American worker has increased over the years. The number of goods or services produced by the worker in an hour on the job has gone up at a rate of almost 3 percent a year over the long run.	
11.	One way a company can get money is to sell stock.	The company used the money received from the sale of stock for buying new plants and equipment, and paying off loans and bills.	
12.	The Standard Oil Company once had a monopoly on the oil industry until the federal government broke it up.	The old Standard Oil Company was broken up to end its monopoly over the oil industry.	
13.	Management can usually get its way if it controls as little as 20 to 30 percent of the votes.	If management can control from 20 to 30 percent of the shares, it will usually be able to do what it wants.	
14.	It is illegal to invest funds, which have been set aside for pension plans, into the stock market.	Money which is set aside for worker pension plans is also invested in stock.	
15.	A business begins with an entrepreneur who takes a risk to make money.	A business begins with an entrepreneur. An entre- preneur is a person who sees a need, figures a way to meet it, and is willing to take a risk to	

make money.

Content Validity of Test Items: Lesson 2--continued

	Test Item	Script Narration
16.	Profit margin refers to the total annual profits on each individual item sold.	Profit margin refers to the amount the business clears on each dollar of sales.
17.	Today there is a growing gap between owner-ship and control of corporations.	Today there is a growing gap between ownership and control of corporations.
18.	A business enterprise must be comprised of at least two people.	A business enterprise can be as simple as one person or as complex as a giant corporation.
19.	Competition affects the prices and products of smaller companies, but it does not affect a company as large as IBM or Kodak.	Even in large corporations like Ford Motor or IBM, competition causes them to cut prices, develop new and improved products and stage sales to keep their share of the market.
20.	Henry Ford invented the car and then developed the assembly line in order to produce more and cheaper cars.	Henry Ford did not invent the car, but he developed the assembly line method of production in order to produce more and cheaper cars.

Test Item

Script Narration

- 1. There are 12 Federal Reserve banks in the U.S.
- 2. Many economists say that the Federal Reserve should manipulate the money system, but instead let it grow at a steady rate.

- 3. When the money supply becomes tight, people will bid for more goods and services than industry can supply.
- 4. About \$300 million will actually be added to the money supply when the Federal Reserve adds an initial \$100 million.
- 5. Decisions made by the Federal Reserve System concerning the amount of money created are based on industrial production.
- 6. Banks belonging to the Federal Reserve System must deposit at least 20 percent of new funds in a Federal Reserve Bank.
- 7. Gold is the real backing for the U.S. dollar.

There are 12 Federal Reserve banks in the U.S.

Some economists have blamed the Federal Reserve for causing inflation and recession with their manipulating of the money supply. As a result, these economists say that the government should keep the money supply growing at a steady rate and not keep shifting between tight and easy money policies.

On the other hand, if the money supply increases too quickly, borrowing becomes easier. People will bid for more goods and services than industry can supply.

By the time the process is complete (when all \$100 million have been deposited in reserve) \$600 million has been added to the supply.

These decisions are based on trends in industrial production, employment, inflation, trade, and the money supply.

Right now, banks belonging to the Federal Reserve System must deposit 15 percent of the new funds in a district Federal Reserve Bank.

Although the dollar is not backed by gold, it is backed by assets of the Reserve System.

	Test Item	Script Narration
8.	The discount rate is the rate that a borrower must pay a commercial bank for borrowed money.	The discount rate is the interest that commercial banks must pay to borrow from the Federal Reserve System.
9.	The Federal Reserve System determines the amount of money created.	The Federal Reserve System determines the amount of money created.
10.	The dollar does not have real backing.	The dollar does not have real backinglike gold or silver.
11.	Coins are produced at U.S. mints in Philadelphia, Denver, and San Francisco.	Coins are produced by U.S. mints in Philadelphia, Denver, and San Francisco.
12.	Interest rates have risen drastically during the 1970s in the U.S.	Interest rates have risen drastically during the 1970s.
13.	It becomes difficult to borrow money when the supply is low.	If it does not create enough money, it becomes difficult and expensive to borrow money.
14.	Foreign countries who hold U.S. dollars can exchange the dollars for gold.	The dollar can no longer be exchanged for gold by foreign countries.
15.	Money can take on many forms.	Money may take on many forms. Beads, furs, and tobacco have been used as money in the past.
16.	Even though the economy grows, the money supply is kept the same.	The money supply continues to grow as the economy grows.
17.	Countries would rather hold gold than	Countries would much rather own gold than currence

including U.S. dollars.

currencies.

Content Validity of Test Items: Lesson 3--continued

	Test Item	Script Narration
18.	Currency (money) is a convenient form of saving purchasing power.	It is a convenient form for saving purchasing power.
19.	The Federal Reserve does not try to influence the interest rates which you would pay for a loan.	The Federal Reserve System influences interest rates which you would pay for a loan.
20.	Checkbook money makes up approximately one-fourth of the active money system.	Checkbook money makes up three-fourths of the active money supply.

Test Item

Script Narration

- 1. In terms of price-earnings ratio, stocks are slightly more expensive than they have been since World War II.
- 2. If a corporation goes broke, stockholders are among the first to be paid.
- 3. Unlike stocks, the majority of bonds are purchased by the individual investors.
- 4. Almost any unexpected event which may change business outlook will cause the price of stock to change.
- 5. The price-earnings ratio is determined by dividing the market price of the stock by the earnings per share for the past 12 months.
- 6. If the ratio is high the stock may be overvalued, if it is low it may be undervalued.
- 7. The "exchange" is a common location where stocks are bought and sold.
- 8. Most of the corporation's borrowing is done by selling stock.

In terms of price-earnings ratio, stocks are now cheaper than they have been since World War II.

If the corporation goes broke, bondholders are among the first to be paid,—stockholders are paid last.

Individual investors can buy bonds, but the vast majority of bonds are purchased by large pension funds, banks, and insurance firms.

Almost any unexpected event which may change the business outlook will cause the price of stock to change.

The price-earnings ratio is determined by dividing the market price of the stock by the earnings per share for the previous 12 months.

If the ratio is too high the stock may be overvalued. If the ratio is lower, it may indicate that the stock is underpriced and would make a good investment.

The exchange is a common location where stocks are bought and sold.

Most money that corporations get from investors comes through borrowing. This borrowing is done by selling bonds.

Script Narration Test Item 9. When we buy stock in hopes of selling it at When we buy stock in hopes of selling it at a a profit, we have faith that the corporation higher price, we are saying that we have faith will make more profits than in the past. that the company will make even more profits than it did in the past. 10. The buyer has 10 days to pay for the stock, When a deal is made, the buyer has 5 days to pay for the stock, and the seller has 5 days to deliver and the seller has 10 days to deliver the stock. the stock to the broker. 11. The New York Exchange Commission polices the The Securities and Exchange Commission polices the stock market to make sure corporations do not stock market to make sure that companies do not use illegal or unfair practices. lie in their reports or to prevent other illegal or unfair practices. 12. If there are more buyers than sellers, the If there are more people who want to buy than price of the stock will go up. sell the stock price will go up. 13. As interest rates increase, bonds become a As interest rates increase, investors are more more attractive buy. attracted to buying bonds. Not everyone makes money in the stock market. In 14. The reason people invest in the stock market fact there are more people who lose money than is that there are more investors who make make money in the market. money than lose money. Over 25 million people and institutions invest in 15. There are about 15 million people and the stock market. institutions who invest in the stock market. If a company's stock is rising, it is more likely 16. The fact that a company may issue more shares to issue more shares to raise money for expansion of stock does not affect the actual number

of jobs in the economy.

and modernization of plants. This will increase

business and the number of jobs in the economy.

Content Validity of Test Items: Lesson 4--continued

	Test Item	Script Narration
17.	When the general economy is doing poorly, the price of stock will go down even if the corporation is making a profit.	If the economy as a whole is going poorly, the stock of a company may fall—even if it is making a good profit.
18.	The stock market does reflect the ups and downs of the economy, but it has little influence on how business will do in the future.	Not only does the stock market reflect the ups and downs of business, but it also influences how well or poorly business will do.
19.	When ordering stock from a broker, all you really need to tell him is: how many shares to buy, what stock to buy, and the price to pay.	First you must go to a local broker and place an order. You must tell him how many shares to buy, what stock to buy, and at what price to pay for the stock.
20.	The New York Stock Exchange lists over 25 billion shares of stock for trading.	The New York Stock Exchange lists 26.2 billion shares of stock for trading.

Content Validity of Test Items: Lesson 5

	Test Item	Script Narration
1.	Union leaders can be too successful in bargaining a contract.	Ironically, the union leader can be too successful in bargaining.
2.	The largest union in the U.S. is the Teamsters.	The largest union is the Teamsters.
3.	According to federal law, employers may not be required to bargain in good faith.	Employers must also bargain in good faith.
4.	Unions have always tried to get contracts with the largest pay raises possible for their members.	After this had happened, unions began agreeing too much to smaller pay raises.
5.	When union leaders negotiate a contract agreement, it becomes binding for the membership.	Members have the right to decide whether an agreement is satisfactory or not. This is done by a democratic vote.
6.	The ultimate weapon of the union is the strike.	The ultimate weapon of the union is the strike.
7.	Normally, nonunion workers receive higher wages than union members.	Figures show that normally, union workers receive higher wages than nonunion workers.
8.	Many economists say that unions are not the major cause of inflation.	Many economists say that unions are not the major source of inflation in the U.S. today.
9.	Bargaining can be done with individual companies or on an industrial nationwide basis.	Bargaining can be conducted with individual companies, individual plants or throughout an industry on a regional or national basis.

	Test Item	Script Narration
10.	Coal and steel unions usually negotiate contracts with individual companies or plants.	This criticism is particularly strong in the coal and steel unions where contracts are negotiated on an industry wide basis.
11.	Unions emphasize fringe benefits more than pay raises when negotiating new contracts.	Fringe benefits have become a major concern. In fact, fringe benefits amount to about one-third of the wages in the private sector.
l2.	The nonunion worker is likely to become employed more often than the union worker.	But the union worker is also more likely to become unemployed longer than the nonunion worker.
L 3.	Unions are less militant today than they were in the 1960s.	During the 50s and 60s, inflation was small. At that time unions accounted for a larger part of the labor force and they were more militant.
4.	Because of union rule, there are fewer jobs in the railroad industry.	Sometimes, union work rules protect jobsthat is especially true in the railroads.
5.	In recent years, the rate of workers belonging to unions has increased dramatically.	In recent years, the rate of workers belonging to unions has decreased from 26.3 to 23.7 percent.
.6.	Collective bargaining is the secondary role of organized labor.	The main role of organized labor is collective bargaining.
.7.	Unions and corporations are both under federal regulation.	For these reasons, unions like corporations have come under federal regulations.
8.	Nearly 1 out of every 4 workers belongs to a union today.	Nearly 1 out of every 4 workers belongs to a union.

Content Validity of Test Items: Lesson 5--continued

•	Test Item	Script Narration
19.	A strike can be good for both an employer and a union.	Strikes can sometimes be good for the employer and the union.
20.	Nonunion workers of a company seldom receive benefits from a union contract.	In fact, when unionized workers sign a contract with a company, identical benefits are given to the nonunion workers.

APPENDIX E

EVALUATOR CRITERIA AND CHECKLIST FOR FIVE DEGREES
OF POSTURAL RELAXATION

Evaluator Criteria for Five Degrees of Postural Relaxation

Extremely Tense Posture

An extremely tense posture is one degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. The criteria for an extremely tense sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - extreme symmetrical position of arms in a folded position.

Forward Lean - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 20 degrees forward of the vertical plane.

Hand Relaxation - the hands are tightly clenched.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - symmetrical position of the legs with both feet flat on the floor and the insteps touching.

Neck Relaxation - the head is not supported and the line of vision is pointing 20 degrees above the horizontal.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 0 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Slightly Tense Posture

A slightly tense posture is a degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. The criteria for an extremely relaxed sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - symmetrical position of the arms while resting in the lap.

Forward Lean - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 10 degrees forward of the vertical plane.

Hand Relaxation - the hands are loosely clasped.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are symmetrically positioned with both

feet flat on the floor and insteps not touching.

Neck Relaxation - the head is not supported and the line of vision is pointing within 10 degrees above the horizontal.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 0 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Slightly Relaxed Posture

A slightly relaxed posture refers to a degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. A slightly relaxed posture is manifest by the following criteria:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - slight asymmetry in the position of the arms where both hands are resting on the lap of the communicator, with one hand from 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other.

Forward Lean - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is within 10 degrees forward from the vertical plane.

Hand Relaxation - fingers are extended but not stiffly.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are in a slightly asymmetrical position with both feet resting flat on the floor and one foot 2 to 5 inches more forward than the other.

Neck Relaxation - the head is positioned so that the line of vision forms to within 10 degrees below the horizontal.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 10 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Moderately Relaxed Posture

The moderately relaxed posture is one degree of the relaxation

dimension of postural behavior. The criteria for a moderately relaxed sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - moderate asymmetry in the position of the arms is exhibited with one hand positioned on the knee 8 to 10 inches more forward than the other, and the elbow of the rear arm resting on the chair's arm.

Hand Relaxation - fingers are extended but not stiffly.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are in a moderately asymmetrical position with one leg extended forward and the other bent at the knee.

Neck Relaxation - the head is hanging so that the line of vision forms between 10 to 20 degrees below the horizontal.

Reclining Angle - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 15 degrees back of the vertical plane.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 20 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Extremely Relaxed Posture

An extremely relaxed posture is a degree of the relaxation dimension of body posture. The criteria for an extremely relaxed sitting posture are:

Arm-Position Asymmetry - extreme asymmetry in the position of the arms where one arm is placed in the lap while the other arm is hooked over the back of the chair.

Hand Relaxation - fingers are extended, but not stiffly.

Leg-Position Asymmetry - legs are crossed in an extremely asymmetrical position with one foot, lifted off the floor and the other foot's edge resting on the floor.

Neck Relaxation - the head is honging so that the line of vision forms more than 20 degrees below the horizontal.

Reclining Angle - the plane from the communicator's shoulders to his hips is 30 degrees back of the vertical plane.

Sideways Lean - the plane cutting the communicator's torso bilaterally in half is 30 degrees away from the vertical (Mehrabian, 1969a; Mehrabian and Friar, 1969).

Evaluator Checklist of Five Sitting Posture Types

Directions. Based on the preceding criteria for five degrees of sitting postural relaxation, check the posture type which best corresponds to that displayed in each videotape segment. You will evaluate 25 videotape segments, each 10 seconds in length.

Posture Type

	Extremely tense	Slightly tense	Slightly relaxed	Moderately relaxed	Extremely relaxed
1					
2		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
_3					
4					
5					
6					
7	<u> </u>				
8	***				
9					
10		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
11					
12		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. <u>-</u>		
13	· · · · <u>-</u> · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
14		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>		
15					<u> </u>
16		·····]	
17	<u></u>			<u></u>	
18	<u>-</u>				
19	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·			
20					
21					
22					
23					
24					
25					

APPENDIX F

RELIABILITY OF VIDEOTAPED POSTURES

Table 11
Reliability of Videotaped Postures

		Sum of	
Postural Relaxation Factor	Number of Agreement	Agreement and Disagreement	Reliability Coefficient
Extremely tense	25	25	1.0*
Slightly tense	25	25	1.0*
Slightly relaxed	25	25	1.0*
Moderately relaxed	25	25	1.0*
Extremely relaxed	25	25	1.0*

^{*} Acceptable reliability coefficient of .80

APPENDIX G

RAW SCORES OF PILOT GROUP

Table 12

Raw Scores of Pilot Group on Five Tests of Instructional Content

		Tests										
Subjects		1		;	2		3		4		5	
	Test Items	Even	Odd	Even	Odd	Even	Odd	Even	Odđ	Even	bbo	
1		5	7	5	6	4	7	6	6	8	3	
2		9	7	3	6	8	7	7	7	7	8	
3		8	3	9	6	7	5	5	7	6	7	
4	<u> </u>	9	8	6	8	7	9	7	7	7	7	
5		4	4	4	5	6	7	6	4	7	6	
6		7	4	7	8	7	8	8	5	6	7	
7		7	9	8	9	7	8	8	8	8	8	
8		8	9	6	9	8	8	8	6	7	8	
9		6	7	7	7	5	4	5	7	6	7	
10		8	9	7	10	8	8	7	7	8	7	

APPENDIX H

ANALYSIS OF INTRATEST AND INTERTEST SIMILARITY

Table 13

Chi Square Analysis of Pilot Group Data of Intratest and Intertest Similarity^a

	Tests						
Test Items	1	2	3	4	5	Row Subtotal	
Even	(68.39) (67.4)	(68.89)	(64.92)	(68.39)		
	71	62	68	67	70	338	
Odd	(69.6)	(68.6)	(70.1)	(66.08)	(69.6)		
	67	74	71	64	68	344	
Column Subtotal	138	136	139	131	138	Total 682	

^aExpected frequencies in parentheses.

$$x^2 = 1.3$$

df. = 4

P. < .05 = 9.488

APPENDIX I

MONITOR'S INSTRUCTIONS TO STUDENTS

Monitor's Instructions to Students

"Good morning. You will view a videotaped program in just a few minutes. Before the program starts, I will give each of you one pencil and one worksheet. The worksheet will be placed face down on your desk, please leave it in that position. You will receive further instructions when I start the videotape recorder. Thank you."

APPENDIX J

TABLE OF RAW SCORES FOR FIVE INSTRUCTOR
MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS

Table 14

Raw Scores of Subjects for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions

			·····	Treatment	ent		
Subject	Sex	Moderately Relaxed ^X 1	Extremely Relaxed ^X 2	Slightly Tense ^X 3	Extremely Tense X ₄	Slightly Relaxed ^X 5	
1	F	15	17	12	10	12	
2	М	16	19	15	13	16	
3	F	14	15	13	14	13	
4	м	15	15	14	15	12	
5	F	16	14	18	11	10	
6	м	14	12	14	14	17	
7	м	16	18	19	17	16	
8	F	18	14	16	12	15	
9	F	10	14	13	8	10	
10	М	14	17	15	15	15	
11	м	14	11	11	13	12	
12	F	17	11	15	14	18	
13	F	14	11	13	10	10	
14	м	17	16	16	12	14	
15	М	11	16	16	17	15	
16	F	18	19	18	13	16	
17	м	16	18	17	14	17	
18	F	16	16	14	12	13	
19	F	17	17	16	16	17	
20	М	18	20	20	1.5	16	
21	М	14	10	14	14	10	
22	М	18	16	20	16	16	
23	F	14	14	14	14	12	
24	F	14	11	12	12	9	
25	м	18	19	19	17	18	
26	м	16	15	13	12	15	
27	F	15	16	13	14	1.1	

Table 14 (continued)

	Sex	Treatment						
Subject		Moderately Relaxed X ₁	Extremely Relaxed ^X 2	Slightly Tense ^X 3	Extremely Tense X ₄	Slightly Relaxed ^X 5		
28	F	16	12	13	12	13		
29	F	10	12	8	10	15		
30	F	7	13	12	1.1	13		
31	м	17	18	15	16	1.5		
32	F	17	10	15	14	1.1		
33	М	13	13	12	12	12		
34	М	17	11	14	10	14		
35	М	1.7	14	15	15	14		
36	F	13	14	13	13	9		
37	М	12	16	16	15	14		
38	F	16	17	14	13	11		
39	F	10	12	13	10	12		
40	м	19	17	15	17	10		
41	М	16	18	18	18	17		
42	м	16	18	19	13	15		
43	м	14	15	12	11	9		
44	м	11	13	16	14	12		
45	F	12	13	15	10	16		

APPENDIX K

VARIANCE PROFILE SCORES FOR FIVE INSTRUCTOR MODELED POSTURAL POSITIONS

Table 15

Variance Profile Scores for Five Instructor Modeled Postural Positions for Males, Females, and Total Group

Subjects	Treatments									
	Moderately Relaxed		Extremely Relaxed		Slightly Tense X3		Extremely Tense		Slightly Relaxed	
	VAR	SD	VAR	SD	VAR	SD	VAR	SD	VAR	SD
Males	4.853	2.203	7.810	2.795	6.419	2.534	4.419	2.102	5.911	2.431
Females	8.891	2.982	5.891	2.427	4.862	2.205	3.838	1.962	6.933	2.633
Total	6.907	2.628	7.513	2.741	6.404	2.531	5.437	2.332	6.847	2.617

VITA

VITA

ROBERT L. BOWER

Personal Data: Date of Birth: December 22, 1949

Place of Birth: Lock Haven, Pennsylvania

Marital Status: Married

Education: Public Schools, Mill Hall, Pennsylvania

Milligan College, Milligan, Tennessee; business

administration, B.S., 1971.

East Tennessee State University, Johnson City,

Tennessee; instructional communication, M.A., 1976.

East Tennessee State University, Johnson City,

Tennessee; supervision, Ed.D., 1979.

Military Service: Specialist Fourth Class; Pershing Missile crewman and azlay specialist, United State Army, 1971-1973.

Honorable discharge, 1977.

Professional Experience:

Teacher, Rock Creek Elementary School; Erwin, Tennessee, 1974-1977.

Special Instructor, College of Education, East Tennessee

State University, 1977-1979.

Publications:

Bower, R. L. A comprehensive learning event design using a communication framework. <u>International</u> <u>Journal of Instructional Media</u>, 1975-76, 3(4).

Bower, R. L. The relationship between learning event design, validation and accountability. <u>International Journal of Instructional Media</u>, 1976-77, 4(1).

Bower, R. L. Social simulation games: Pragmatic methodology or inefficacious vogue. <u>International Journal of Instructional Media</u>, 1977-78, <u>5</u>(1).

Bower, R. L. Systematic attitude development. <u>International Journal of Instructional Media</u>, 1977-78, 5(4).

Bower, R. L. Hawthorne effect: To be or not to be.

<u>International Journal of Instructional Media</u>, 1978-79, 6(2).

Professional Memberships:

Association for Educational Communications and Technology Tennessee Educational Communication and Technol

Tennessee Educational Communication and Technology
Association (President 1977-1978)
Association for Behavior Analysis

Phi Delta Kappa Kappa Delta Pi